AGENDA

The City Council of the City of Daingerfield shall meet in Regular Session Monday, February 9, 2026, at 6:00
p.m. in the Daingerfield Volunteer Fire Department located at 823 W.W.M. Watson Blvd. The order of business
will be as follows:
Call Meeting to Order.
Invocation, Pledge of Allegiance and Texas Pledge.
Public Comments
Presentation
A. Presentation of the TDA Form A1024 CDBG Section 3 Program Goals Presentation for the
TxCDBG Project CDV23-0169.
5. Consent Agenda
All Consent items are considered to be routine and will be enacted by one motion and vote.
A. Deliberate and Act to Approve Minutes of January 12, 2026.
6. Business
Discuss, Consider, and Possibly Take Action Regarding:
A. Deliberate and Act to Award Bid for TxCDBG Project CDV23-0169 Daingerfield Sewer
Improvement, manhole replacement and rehabilitation.
B. Deliberate and Act on Ordinance 20260209-02 Ordering General Municipal Election to be Held
Saturday, May 2, 2026
C. Deliberate and Act on Ordinance 20260209-03 Ordering Special Municipal Election to be Held
D

ool

Saturday, May 2, 2026
. Discuss, Consider and Possibly take Action regarding review for potential zoning amendment to
add regulations for outdoor tire storage, including screening and fencing requirements for tire
shops and give direction to staff.
Deliberate and Act to Approve Daingerfield Police Department Racial Profiling Report
Deliberate and Act to Approve Daingerfield Fire Department Racial Profiling Report
. Deliberate, Discuss and Possibly take action on re-appointment of Board members in places 1,
and 5, Brenda Howard, Marcie McGill, to the Daingerfield Economic Development Corporation
Type A & B.
H. Deliberate, Discuss and Possibly take action on re-appointment of Board members in places 2,
and 4, Martha Campbell and Nancy Loyd to the Planning and Zoning Commission.
7. Monthly Departmental Reports: Informational reports only; no action to be taken:
A. Animal Shelter, Code Enforcement, EMS, Fire, Library, Municipal court, Police, Public Works
B. Financial
C. City Manager
i. TWDB Projects Update, Winter Storm, Irvin Park Grant
8. Monthly Boards and Commissions Minutes: Informational reports only; no action to be taken:
A. Northeast Texas Municipal Water District- Minutes and Annual Audit
B. Daingerfield Economic Development Corporation

9. Adjournment. .
Note: This meeting shall be conducted pursuant fo the Texas Government Code Section 551.001 et seq. At anyjtime during the
meeting the City Council reserves the rightto adjourn into executive session on any ofthe above p i
with the sections 551.071, and Section 1.05, Texas Disciplinary Rules of Professional Conduct (Gons)ltation with Attor
(Deliberations about Real Property), §551.073 (Deliberations about Gifts and Donations),
§551.087 (Economic Development). All items listed above are eligible for Council discuss

@mm

Wade Kerley, Mayor

I, Amanda Sanders, certify that the above notice of meeting was posted in a public place before 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday,
E&gbruary 3, 2026.
._\l
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Amanda Sanders, City Secretary SEAL




CITY SECRETARY’S AGENDA NOTES
February 9, 2026

2,
3.

Invocation, Pledge of Allegiance and Texas Pledge.

Public Comments: At this time, anyone will be allowed to speak on any matter other than personnel
matters and matters under litigation, for length.of time not to exceed three minutes.  No Council
discussion or action may take place on a matter until such matter has been placed on an agenda and
posted in accordance with the law.

If, ata meeting of a governmental body, a member of the public or of the governmental body inquiries about a
subject for which notice has not been given as required by this subchapter, the notice provisions of this subchapter

do not apply to:
(1) a statement of specific factual information given in response to the i mqmry, ar

(2) a recitation of existing policy in response to the i mqmry

4, Presentation
information report only, no action o be taken

Presentation of the TDA Form A1024 CDBG Section 3 Program Goals Presentation for the
TxCDBG Project CDV23-0169. Presentation on pages 5-15 of your packets.

Consent Agenda
All consent items are considered to be routine and will be enacted by one motion and vote.
A. Deliberate and Act to Approve Minutes of January 12 2026. Draft of the Minutes can be
found on pages 16-19 of your packets.

Business
Discuss, Consider, and Possibly Take Action Regarding

A. Deliberate and Act to Award Bid for TXCDBG Project CDV23-0169 Daingerfield Sewer
Improvement, manhole replacement and rehabilitation: Bids were solicited and opened on
January 29, 2026, at City Hall. Recommendation letter and bid tabulation from the engineers
Schaumburg & Polk (SPI1) will be presented at the meeting. Chris Osburn with SP1 will be
present to answer questions.

B. Deliberate and Act on Ordinance 20260209-02 Ordermg General Mumc:pal Election to be
Held Saturday, May 2, 2026: Ordinance on pages 20-24

C. Deliberate and Act on Ordinance 20260209-03 Ordering Special Municipal Election to be
Held Saturday, May 2, 2026: Ordinance on pages 25-29

D. Discuss, Consider, and Possibly take Action regarding review for potential zoninhy
amendment to add regulations for outdoor tire storage, including screening and fencing
requirements for tire shops and direction to staff: After discussion with the City Attorney,
staff has been advised that this type of change must be made through the zoning ordinance
amendment process. This will require review and recommendation by the Planning & Zoning
Commission prior to any City Council action. Once reviewed by P&Z, the proposed amendment
will then be scheduled for a public hearing before City Council, followed by Council
consideration and possible adoption by ordinance. Draft ordinance on pages 30-32 of your
packets.

E. Deliberate and Act to Approve Daingerfield Police Department Racial Profiling Report:
Report on pages 33-41 of your packets.

F. Deliberate and Act to Approve Daingerfield Fire Department Racial Profiling Report:
Report on page 42 of your packets.

G. Deliberate, Discuss and Possibly take action on re-appointment of Board members in
places 1, and 5, Brenda Howard, Marcie McGill, to the Daingerfield Economic
Development Corporation Type A & B: Both have confirmed their willingness to continue to
serve, and the EDC board has recommended them for re-appointment.



H. Deliberate, Discuss and Possibly take action on re-appointment of Board members in
places 2, and 4, Martha Campbell and Nancy Loyd to the Plannmg and Zoning
Commission, Both Martha Campbell and Nancy Loyd are W|II|ng to serve. "

7. Monthly Departmental Reports: Informational reports only; no action to be taken:
A. Animal Shelter, Code Enforcement, EMS, Fire, Library, Municipal court, Police, Public
Works: Monthly Reports are on pages 43 through 59.
B. Financial: Located on pages 60 -66
C. City Manager: Located on page 4

8. Monthly Boards and Commissions Minutes: Informational reports only; no action to be taken:
A. Northeast Texas Municipal Water District —Minutes Located on pages 67-68 Annual Audit located
on pages 69-116
B. Economic Development Corporation — Located on pages 117-118

9. Adjournment



Faunde:

- DAINGEREI

W

City Manager’s Report

Texas Water Development Board Projects

Project 62916 TWDB DWSRF Contract 01 the new chlorination system at Union St and newly
installed valves is set to be closed out completely this month. TWDB final site visit is scheduled
for February 12" this is. Project 73915 CID 01 the collection system rehabilitation is completed
and waiting for TWDB closeout process. We have multiple other projects with the TWDB
waiting for various approvals before we can start. You will be updated as projects proceed.

Hazard Mitigation Grant

This project is still in the design phase with the engineering company. Upon completion we will
be ready to solicit bids for the installation of generators at wastewater, wesl lift and union pump
station.

Texas Parks and Wildlife Grant

The City of Daingerfield received an $88,659 TPWD Small Community Grant for Irvin Park
improvements. This is a 50/50 matching grant, bringing the total project investment to over
$177,000. Planned upgrades include ADA-accessible playground equipment and replacement of
deteriorated fencing/backstops and chain-link fencing for five ballfields.

Winter Storm Fern

During the winter storm event, City staff completed advance preparations across departments and
issued public communications regarding travel safety, warming center availability, and facility
readiness. The City experienced only minor impacts during the storm, including downed trees
and a brief power outage lasting only a few hours. Public Works responded quickly to repair one
major water leak during the storm, and crews have continued addressing multiple smaller leaks
that surfaced afterward as temperatures improved. Overall, the City of Daingerfield was well
prepared, and operations remained stable throughout the event.

Weokee e
Michelle Jones
City Manager

101 Linda Drive
Daingerfield, TX 75638 Phone: (903)-645-3906 www.cityofdaingerfield.com
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CITY OF DAINGERFIELD
Regular Session - January 12, 2026

Meeting Minutes

Call to Order

Mayor Wade Kerley called the City Council meeting for the City of Daingerfield to order at
6:00 PM on Monday, January 12, 2026, at the Daingerfield Volunteer Fire Department
located at 823 W.W.M. Watson Blvd.

Council Present

e Mayor Wade Kerley

e Mayor Pro Tem Jessie Ayers

= Council Member Vicki Smith
s Council Member David Hood
* Council Member Ben Ramirez
 Council Member Bob Thorne

Council Absent
N/A

City Staff Present

« City Manager Michelle Jones

» City Secretary/Finance Director Amanda Sanders
* Police Chief Tracey Climer

¢ Fire Chief Jimmy Cornelius

» Assistant Fire Chief Travis Miller

« Code Compliance Officer- Carrie Kirkland

Others Present

eChase Rivet- Summit Locations
¢Jim Goodman

*Mike Ward - Auditor

*Melissa Boyd

*Bruce Boyd

Invocation, Pledge of Allegiance, and Texas Pledge
Led by Mayor Wade Kerley

Public Comments
No public comment.



Presentation (Information Only — No Action Taken)
Presentation of the Audit for Fiscal Year 2024-2025 by Mike Ward, C.P.A.

Consent Agenda
Deliberate and Act to Approve Minutes of December 8, 2025.

Motion made by Mr. Ayers to approve minutes as presented.
Seconded by Mrs. Smith
Vote: All voted for /Motion carried.

Business — Discuss, Consider, and Possibly Take Action Regarding:
A. Take from the Table- Selection and appointment of City Attorney and Municipal
Court Prosecutor

Motion made by Mr. Hood to take from the table - selection and appointment of City Attorney
and Municipal Court Prosecutor.

Seconded by Mrs. Smith

Vote: All voted for / Motion carried.

B. Selection and appointment of a City Attorney and Municipal Court Prosecutor.

Motion made by Mr. Hood to appoint Charles E. Zech and Denton Navarro Rodriguiz Bernal
Santee & Zech, P.C. as city attorney for the City of Daingerfield, effective January 12, 2026; to
designate Denton Navarro Rodriguiz Bernal Santee & Zech, P.C, or its assigned attorney, to
serve as Municipal Court Prosecutor; to authorize Denton Navarro Rodriguiz Bernal Santee &
Zech, P.C. to provide legal services to the Daingerfield Type A and Type B Economic
Development Corporations; and to authorize the City Manager to negotiate and execute a
professional services agreement consistent with council direction.

Seconded by Mrs. Smith

Vote: All voted for / Motion carried.

C. Planning Services Engagement Letter with Denton Navarro Rodriguez Bernal
Santee & Zech, P.C.

Motion made by Mr. Ayers to approve Planning Services Engagement letter with Denton
Navarro Rodriguez Bernal Santee & Zech, P.C. for professional planning and development-
related services, and authorize the City Manager to execute the agreement and utilize such
services on an as needed basis.

Seconded by Mr. Ramirez

Vote: All voted for / Motion carried.

17



D. Take from the table request from Taylor Baumgardner with Summit location on
behalf of Keith and Mica West to Extend a variance Allowing Installation of a free-
standing billboard located at 1015 Linda Drive.

Motion made by Mr. Ayers to take from the table- sign variance request at 1015 Linda Drive.
Seconded by: Mr. Thorne
Vote: All voted for / Motion carried.

E. Action on request from Taylor Baumgardner with Summit location on behalf of
Keith and Mica West to Extend a variance Allowing Installation of a free-standing
billboard located at 1015 Linda Drive.

Motion made by Mr. Hood to reject the variunce request.,
Seconded by Mr. Thorne
Vote: All voted for / Motion carried.

F. Take from the table request from Taylor Baumgardner with Summit location on
behalf of Jose Benitez to Extend a variance Allowing Installation of a free-standing
billboard located at 1016 Linda Drive.

Motion made by Mr. Thorne to take from the table- sign variance request at 1016 Linda Drive.
Seconded by: Mr. Hood
Vote: All voted for / Motion carried.

G. Action on request from Taylor Baumgardner with Summit location on behalf of
Jose Benitez to Extend a variance Allowing Installation of a free-standing billboard
located at 1016 Linda Drive,

Motion made by Mr. Hood to reject the variance request.
Seconded by Mr. Ayers
Vote: All voted for / Motion carried.

H. Approve Budget Amendment Resolution 01122026-01

Motion made by Mr. Hood to approve resolution 01122026-01
Seconded by Mr. Ramirez
Vate: All voted for / Motion carried.

L. Approve Submission of a Grant Application for the Daingerfield Police Department
Fleet Emergency Project.

Motion made by Mr. Hood to approve resolution as presented.
Seconded by Mr. Thorne
Vote: All voted for / Motion carried.

18



J. Approve purchase of fire department vehicle through cooperative purchasing
program.

Motion made by Mr. Hood to approve the purchase of a fire department vehicle through a
cooperative purchasing program.

Seconded by Mr. Ayers

Vote: All voted for / Motion carried.

K. Resolution regarding a finance contract for procuring a fire truck with Government
Capital.

Motion made by Mr. Hood to approve the resolution as presented.
Seconded by Mrs. Smith
Vote: All voted for / Motion carried.

Monthly Departmental Reports (Informational Only)
Animal Shelter, Code Enforcement, EMS, Fire, Library, Municipal Court, Police, Public
Works, Financial Report, City Manager

Monthly Boards and Commissions Minutes

Northeast Texas Municipal Water District
Morris County Appraisal District

Adjournment
There being no further business, Mayor Kerley asked for a motion to adjourn.

Motion made by Mr. Thorne
Seconded by Mr. Ramirez
Vote: All voted for / Motion carried.

The meeting was adjourned at 7:07 PM.

Wade Kerley, Mayor

ATTEST:

Amanda Sanders, City Secretary
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ORDINANCE NO. 20260209-02

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF
DAINGERFIELD, TEXAS, ORDERING A GENERAL ELECTION TO BE
HELD IN THE CITY OF DAINGERFIELD, TEXAS, ON THE UNIFORM
ELECTION DATE OF MAY 2, 2026, FOR THE QUALIFIED VOTERS OF
THE CITY OF DAINGERFIELD, TEXAS, TOELECT A MAYOR AND TWO
CITY COUNCIL MEMBERS FOR A FULL TERM; PROVIDING FOR
NOTICE OF THE ELECTION; PROVIDING FOR ELECTION PRECINCT
AND POLLING PLACES; PROVIDING FOR THE AUTHORITY TO
EXECUTE ANY AND ALL NECESSARY DOCUMENTS; PROVIDING FOR
RELATED MATTERS; PROVIDING FOR EARLY VOTING; PROVIDING
FOR EFFECTIVE DATE AND OPEN MEETINGS CLAUSES

WHEREAS, May 2, 2026, is the Uniform Election Date (also referred to herein as “Election Day”)
upon which the City Council for the City of Daingerfield, Texas (the “City”) is authorized by law to
conduct a municipal election;

WHEREAS, pursuant to state law, the City Council for the City, by the adoption of this Ordinance,
intends to order a municipat clection to take place on the May 2, 2026, Uniform Election Date for the
qualified voters of the City to elect the following officials for the following offices of the City toserve a
full term under the laws of the State of Texas and the City Charter:

Mayor, At Large,;
One (1) Council Member, At Large; and
One (1) Council Member, At Large; and

WHEREAS, the Texas Election Code (the “Code”) is applicable to said election and this Ordinance
establishes procedures consistent with the Code, and designates the voting place for the election;

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Daingerfield intends, and by adoption of this Ordmance,
the City Council of the City of Daingerfield calls and orders a general election to be conducted and
held on the May 2, 2026, general Uniform Election Date for voters to elect Mayor and two (2) City
Council members for a full term to the City of Daingerficld City Council;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED AND ORDERED BY THE CITY COUNCIL
OF THE CITY OF DAINGERFIELD, TEXAS:

Section 1. Findings of Fact. The findings and recitations set out in the preamble of
this Ordinance are found to be true and correct and that they are hereby ad opted by the City Council and
made a part hereof for all purposes.

Section 2. Order of General Election, The City Council for the City orders that the
General Municipal Election of the City shall be held on the Saturday, May 2, 2026, Uniform Election
Date to elect the following officials for the following offices of the City of Daingerfield:

Pagelof 5
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Mayor, At Large;
One (1) Council Member, At Large; and
One (1) Council Member, At Large

Candidates for the above offices shall file their application for a place on the ballot with the City
Secretary of the City, at 101 Linda Drive, Daingerfield, Texas 75638 between 8:00 am. and 5:00
p.m., no later than February 13, 2026, excluding weekends and holidays. All applications for
candidacy shall be on a form as prescribed by the Texas Election Code. The order in which the names
of the candidates for each office are to be printed on the ballot shall be determined by a drawmg
conducted by the City Secretary.

Section 3. Ballots. The ballots used for the general election shall comply with the
Texas Election Code and shall be in the form provided by the City for use on the respective voting
devices used by the City.

Section 4. Printed Materials. The official ballots, together with such other election
materials as required by the Texas Election Code,as amended, shall be printed in both the English
and Spanish languages and shall contain such provisions, markings and language as required by law.

Section 5. Notice of Election, Notice of the election shall be given in the manner as
provided in the Texas Election Code and the City Charter. The notice of election shall be posted on
the bulletin board used for posting notice of meetings of the goveming body at City Hall and at other
locations required by state law not later than the twenty-first (21st) day before the election, and by
publishing said noticeof the election in a newspaper of general circulation, not earlier than thirty (30}
days nor later than ten (10} days prior to said election. The City Secretary is authorized and shall give
all notices required for the election,

Section 6. Conduct_of Election. The City Secretary and his’her designees and
appointees, and the election judges, alternate judges and clerks properly appointed for the election,
shall hold and conduct the election for the City. The election shall be held and conducted in
compliance with the City Charter and state law.

Section 7, Election Precincts and Election Day Polling Places.  The City hasone (1)
clection precinet and said election shall be at the following place in said City:

J. D. Pamish Administration Building,
200 Tiger Drive
Daingerfield, Texas.

In the event the designated polling place is changed due to unforeseen circumstances, including but
not limited to facility availability, emergency conditions, or operational necessity, the City
Secretary is authorized to designate an altemnate polling place within the City. Notice of any change
in polling place location shall be provided in accordance with applicable Texas Election Code
requirements.

Section 8. Designation of Polling Place(s). The polls at the designated polling
place(s) shall on said Election Day to be opened from 7:00 A M. to 7:00 P.M. in the J. D. Parrish
Administration Building, 200 Tiger Dr., Daingerfield, Texas. The City Secretary shall tabulate and

Page2of 5
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provide the election retums for votes cast for the propositions presented to the voters to amend the
City Charter.

Section 9. Early Voting. (a) Early voting by personal appearance shall commence
on Monday, April 20, 2026, and continue through Tuesday, April 28, 2026, and early voting polls
shall remain open for the time specified by the Texas Election Code and the respective Elections
Administrator,

(b) The period to apply for a ballot by mail is January 1, 2026, through April 20, 2026.
An applicationfor ballot by mail (ABBM) must be received by the Early Voting Clerk no
later than the close of business on April 20, 2026.

(c) The period to apply for a federal postcard application (FPCA) is January 1, 2026,
through April 20, 2026. An FPCA must be received by the Early Voting Clerk no later than
the close of business on April 20, 2026.

(d)  Early Voting Conducted by the City:

1. Early voting, both by personal appearance and by mail will be conducted by the
City Secretary in accordance with the Texas Election Code for the qualified voters
of the City residing in the City. The City Secretary is hereby designated and
appointed as an Early Voting Clerk for the general election for qualified voters of
the City.

2. Applications forballot by mail for qualified voters of the City residing in the City
shall be mailed to:
Amanda Sanders
City Secretary
Mailing and Physical Address:

101 Linda Drive

Daingerfield, Texas 75638

Telephone Number: (903) 645-3906

Email Address: amanda.sanders@cityofdaingerficld.com
Website: https://www cityofdaingerfield .com/city-secretary

3. The main early voting location for qualified voters of the City is: the City
Conference Chambers in the Daingerficld City Hall located at 101 Linda Drive,
Daingerfield, Texas 75638.

4. Early voting for qualified voters of the City shall be held at the dates, times, and
location authorized by the City Secretary. Any early voting polling place may be
added or changed by the City Secretary upon compliance with applicable law.
Early voting by personal appearance shall only be conducted on one or more
Saturdays or Sundays during the early voting period upon receipt of a written
request submitted by at least 15 registered voters of the territory covered by the
election as required by state law.

Page 3 of 5
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Section 10.  Election Judges and Clerks. Prior to the Election Day, the election
judges, alternate judges, clerks, and other personnel necessary for conducting the Election shall be
appointed by the City Council or selected and appointed by the City Secretary, asauthorized by the Texas
Election Code,all in compliance with the requirements of statelaw, and they are hereby designated and
appointed election officers for the holding of said election and such appointments are approved. The
presiding judges, altemate presiding judges and clerks shall perform the functions and duties of their
respective positionsthat are provided by state law. The City Secretary is authorized to appoint any
such other officials not designated or appointed herein as are necessary and appropriate to conduct
the Election in accordance with the Code.

Section 11.  City Secretary Assistance. The City Secretary is further authorized to
assist with the giving of notices required for the election, and to take such other and further action as
is required to conduct the election in compliance with the Texas Election Code; provided that,
pursuant to anmy applicable election services contracts, the City Secretary or the Elections
Administrator, shall have the duty and be responsible for organizing and conducting the election in
compliance with the Texas Election Code; and for providing all services specified to be provided in
any applicable election services contracts.

Section 12. Necessary Actions. The Mayor and the City Secretary of the City, in
consultation with the City’s Attorney, are hereby authorized and directed to take any and all actions
necessary to comply with the provisions of the Code and the Federal Voting Rights Act in cartying
out and conducting the Election, whether or not expressly authorized herein, including but not limited
to making changes or additions to polling places, ballot language, or procedures to the extent required
or desirable or as may become necessary due to circumstances arising afterthe date of this Ordance.
The City Secretary is further authorized to give notice of the election as required by the Texas Election
Code. The Mayor is further authorized to sign any subsequent orders adjusting the polling locations,
dates, and times that are subject to change due to any applicable joint election agreement, if any, up
until the final posting deadline of such notice pursuant to Texas Election Code (“Code™) Sec.
4.003(a)(b} and (c).

Section 13. General The general election shall be held and conducted by the City in
compliance with the Texas Election Code and, to the extent not inconsistent therewith, the City
Charter, and only resident qualified voters of the City shall be eligible to vote at the election. The
Election Officers are hereby authorized and instructed to provide and fumish all necessary election
supplies, materials, and equipment to conduct said election. Returns of the election shall be made
known as soon as possible after the closing of the polls; and the election returns shall be canvassed
by the City Council not earlier than May 5, 2026, nor later than May 13, 2026,

Section 14.  Authorization to Execute. The Mayor is authorized to execute and the
City Secretary is authorized to attest this Ordinance on behalf of the Council; and the Mayor is
authorized to doall other things legal and necessary in connection with the holding and consummation
of the Election.

Section 15,  Effective Date; Election Code; Preamble.  This Ordinance shall be in full
force and effect from and after its passage on the date shown below; provided that if any term or
provision of this Ordinance conflicts with, or is inconsistent with, the Texas Elections Code, the Texas
Election Code shall govern and control and the City Secretary shall comply with the Texas Elections
Code. The recitals contained in the preamble hereof are hereby found to be true, and such recitals are
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hereby made a part of this Ordinance for all purposes as part of the findings of Council.

Section 16.  Severability, If any provision, section of this Ordinance or the application
of any provisionto any person or circumstance is held invalid, the invalidity shall not affect other
provisions or applications of the Ordinance which can be given effect without the invalid provision or
application, andto this end the provisions of this Ordinance are declared to be severable.

Section 17. Open Meetings. Itis officially found and determined that the meeting at
which this Ordinance is passed was open to the public as required and that public notice of the time,
place, and purpose of said meeting was given as required Chapt. 551, Tex. Gov't. Code.

PASSED, ADOPTED AND APPROVED on this the 9th day of February, 2026.

ATTEST: CITY OF DAINGERFIELD, TEXAS

Amanda Sanders, City Secretary Wade Kerley, Mayor
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ORDINANCE NO. 20260209-03

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF
DAINGERFIELD, TEXAS, ORDERING A SPECIAL ELECTION TO BE
HELD IN THE CITY OF DAINGERFIELD, TEXAS, ON THE UNIFORM
ELECTION DATE OF MAY 2, 2026, FOR THE QUALIFIED VOTERS OF
THE CITY OF DAINGERFIELD, TEXAS, TO ELECT ONE (1) CITY
COUNCIL MEMBER TO FILL THE UNEXPIRED TERM OF OFFICE;
PROVIDING FOR NOTICE OF THE ELECTION; PROVIDING FOR
ELECTION PRECINCT AND ELECTION DAY POLLING PLACE(S)
PROVIDING FOR THE AUTHORITY TO EXECUTE ANY AND ALL
NECESSARY DOCUMENTS; PROVIDING FOR RELATED MATTERS;
PROVIDING FOR EARLY VOTING; PROVIDING FOR EFFECTIVE DATE
AND OPEN MEETINGS CLAUSES.

WHEREAS, May 2, 2026, is the Uniform Election Date (also referred to herein as “Election Day™)
upon which the City Council for the City of Daingerfield, Texas (the “City™) is authorized by law to
conduct a municipal election;

WHEREAS, pursuant to state law, the City Council for the City, by the adoption of this Ordinance,
intends to order a municipal election to take place on the May 2, 2026, Uniform Election Date for the
qualified voters of the City to elect the following officials for the following offices of the City to serve
the unexpired term under the laws of the State of Texas and the City Charter:

One (1) Council Member, At Large; and

WHEREAS, the Texas Election Code (the “Code”} is applicable to said election and this Ordinance
establishes procedures consistent with the Code, and designates the voting place for the election;

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Daingerfield intends, and by adoption of this Ordinance,
the City Council of the City of Daingerfield calls and orders a special election to be conducted and
held on the May 2, 2026, general Uniform Election Date for voters to elect one (1) City Council
members for an unexpired term to the City of Daingerfield City Council;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED AND ORDERED BY THE CITY COUNCIL
OF THE CITY OF DAINGERFIELD, TEXAS:

Section 1, Findings of Fact, The findings and recitations set out in the preamble of
this Ordinance are found to be true and comrect and that they are hereby adopted by the City Council and
made a part hereof for all purposes.

Section 2. Order_of Special Election. The City Council orders a Special Election
with a combined ballot to be held on Saturday, May 2, 2026, such date being a Uniform Election Date
as set forth in the Texas Election Code to elect the following officials for the following offices of the City
of Daingerfield:
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One (1) Council Member, At Large

Candidates for the above offices shall file their application for a place on the ballot with the City
Secretary of the City, at 101 Linda Drive, Daingerfield, Texas 75638 between 8:00 a.m. and 5:00
p.m., no later than February 13, 2026, excluding weekends and holidays. All applications for
candidacy shall be on a form as prescribed by the Texas Election Code. The order in which the names
of the candidates for each office are to be printed on the ballot shall be determined by a drawing
conducted by the City Secretary.

Section 3. Ballots. The ballots used for the special election shall comply with the
Texas Election Code and shall be in the form provided by the City for use on the respective voting
devices used by the City,

Section 4. Printed Materials. The official ballots, together with such other election
materials as required by the Texas Election Code, as amended, shall be printed in both the English
and Spanish languages and shall contain such provisions, markings and language as required by law.

Section 5,  Notice of Election. Notice of the election shall be given in the manner as
provided in the Texas Election Code and the City Charter. The notice of election shall be posted on
the bulletin board used for posting notice of meetings of the governing body at City Hall and at other
locations required by state law not later than the twenty-first (21st) day before the election, and by
publishing said noticeof the election in a newspaper of general circulation, not earlier than thirty (30)
days nor later than ten (10) days prior to said election, The City Secretary is authorized and shall give
all notices required for the election.

Section 6. Conduct of Election. The City Secretary and his/her designees and
appointees, and the election judges, alternate judges and clerks properly appointed for the election,
shall hold and conduct the election for the City. The election shall be held and conducted in
compliance with the City Charter and state law.

Section 7. Election Precincts and Election Day Polling Places.  The City has one (1)
election precinet and said election shall be at the following place in said City:

J. D. Parrish Administration Building,
200 Tiger Drive
Daingerfield, Texas.

In the event the designated polling place is changed due to unforeseen circumstances, including but
not limited to facility availability, emergency conditions, or operational necessity, the City
Secretary is authorized to designate an alternate polling place within the City. Notice of any change
in polling place location shall be provided in accordance with applicable Texas Election Code

requirements.
Section 8. Designation of Polling Place(s). The polls at the designated polling

place(s) shall on said Election Day to be opened from 7:00 A.M. to 7:00 P.M. in the J. D. Parrish
Administration Building, 200 Tiger Dr., Daingerfield, Texas. The City Secretary shall tabulate and
provide the election returns for votes cast for the propositions presented to the voters to amend the
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City Charter.

Section 9. Early Voting. (a) Early voting by personal appearance shall commence
on Monday, April 20, 2026, and continue through Tuesday, April 28, 2026, and early voting polls
shall remain open for the time specified by the Texas Election Code and the respective Elections
Administrator.

(b)  The period to apply for a ballot by mail is January 1, 2026, through April 20, 2026.
An applicationfor ballot by mail (ABBM) must be received by the Early Voting Clerk no
later than the close of business on Apnl 20, 2026.

(<) The period to apply for a federal postcard application (FPCA) is January 1, 2026,
through April 20, 2026. An FPCA must be received by the Early Voting Clerk no later than
the close of business on April 20, 2026.

(d)  Early Voting Conducted by the City:

1. Early voting, both by personal appearance and by mail will be conducted by the
City Secretary in accordance with the Texas Election Code for the qualified voters
of the City residing in the City. The City Secretary is hereby designated and
appointed as an Early Voting Clerk for the special election for qualified voters of
the City.

2. Applications for ballot by mail for qualified voters of the City residing in the City
shall be mailed to:
Amanda Sanders
City Secretary
Mailing and Physical Address:

101 Linda Drive

Daingerfield, Texas 75638

Telephone Number: (903) 645-3906

Email Address: amanda.sanders@cityofdaingerfield.com
Website: https:/www.cityofdaingerfield.conycity-secretary

3. The main early voting location for qualified voters of the City is: the City
Conference Chambers in the Daingerfield City Hall located at 101 Linda Drive,
Daingerfield, Texas 75638.

4. Early voting for qualified voters of the City shall be held at the dates, times, and
location authorized by the City Secretary, Any early voting polling place may be
added or changed by the City Secretary upon compliance with applicable law.
Early voting by personal appearance shall only be conducted on one or more
Saturdays or Sundays during the early voting period upon receipt of a written
request submitted by at least 15 registered voters of the temitory covered by the
election as required by state law.

Section 10. Election Judges and Clerks. Prior to the Election Day, the election
Page 3 of' 5

27



judges, altemate judges, clerks, and other personnel necessary for conducting the Election shall be
appointed by the City Council or selected and appointed by the City Secretary, as authotized by the Texas
Election Code,all in compliance with the requirements of state law, and they are hereby designated and
appointed election officers for the holding of said election and such appointments are approved. The
presiding judges, alternate presiding judges and clerks shall perform the functions and duties of their
respective positionsthat are provided by state law. The City Secretary is authorized to appoint any
such other officials not designated or appointed herein as are necessary and appropriate to conduct
the Election in accordance with the Code.

Section 11.  City Secretary Assistance. The City Secretary is further authorized to
assist with the giving of notices required for the election, and to take such otherand further action as
is required to conduct the election in compliance with the Texas Election Code; provided that,
pursuant to any applicable election services contracts, the City Secretary or the Elections
Administrator, shall have the duty and be responsible for organizing and conducting the election in
compliance with the Texas Election Code; and for providing all services specified to be provided in
any applicable election services contracts.

Section 12.  Necessary Actions. The Mayor and the City Secretary of the City, in
consultation with the City’s Attomey, are hereby authorized and directed to take any and all actions
necessary to comply with the provisions of the Code and the Federal Voting Rights Act in carrying
out and conducting the Election, whether or not expressly authorized herein, including but not limited
to making changes or additions to polling places, ballot language, or procedures to the extent required
or desirable or as may become necessary due to circumstances arising afterthe date of this Ordinance.
The City Secretary is further authorized to give notice of the election as required by the Texas Election
Code. The Mayor is further authorized to sign any subsequent orders adjusting the polling locations,
dates, and times that are subject to change due to any applicable joint election agreement, if any, up
until the final posting deadline of such notice pursuant to Texas Election Code (*Code”) Sec.
4.003(a)(b) and (c).

Section 13.  Special. The special election shall be held and conducted by the City in
compliance with the Texas Election Code and, to the extent not inconsistent therewith, the City
Charter, and only resident qualified voters of the City shall be eligible to vote at the election. The
Election Officers are hereby authorized and instructed to provide and fumish all necessary election
supplies, materials, and equipment to conduct said election. Retumns of the election shall be made
known as soon as possible after the closing of the polls; and the election returns shall be canvassed
by the City Council not earlier than May 5, 2026, nor later than May 13, 2026,

Section 14.  Authorization to Execute. The Mayor is authorized to execute and the
City Secretary is authorized to attest this Ordinance on behalf of the Council; and the Mayor is
authorized todoall other things legal and necessary in connection with the holding and consummation
of the Election.

Section 15,  Effective Date; Election Code; Preamble.  This Ordinance shall be in full
force and effect from and after its passage on the date shown below; provided that if any term or
provision of this Ordinance conflicts with, or is inconsistent with, the Texas Elections Code, the Texas
Election Code shall govern and control and the City Secretary shall comply with the Texas Elections
Code. The recitals contained in the preamble hereof are hereby found to be true, and such recitals are
hereby made a part of this Ordinance for all purposes as part of the findings of Council.
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Section 16.  Severability. If any provision, section of this Ordinance or the application
of any provisionto any person or circumstance is held invalid, the invalidity shall not affect other
provisions or applications of the Ordinance which can be given effect without the invalid provision or
application, andto this end the provisions of this Ordinance are declared to be severable.

Section 17. Open Meetings. It is officially found and determined that the meeting at
which this Ordinance is passed was open to the public as required and that public notice of the time,
place, and purpose of said meeting was given as required Chapt. 551, Tex. Gov'. Code.

PASSED, ADOPTED AND APPROVED on this the 9th day of February, 2026.

ATTEST: CITY OF DAINGERFIELD, TEXAS

Amanda Sanders, City Secretary Wade Kerley, Mayor
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ORDINANCE NO.

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF DAINGERFIELD,
TEXAS, AMENDING THE CITY’S ZONING ORDINANCE, SECTION 12.-
ADDITIONAL USE, HEIGHT, AND AREA REGULATIONS BY ADDING 12.-2.
OUTDOOR STORAGE; PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; AND
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE.

WHEREAS, the City of Daingerfield, Texas (the “City”) is a home-rule municipality operating
under the laws of the State of Texas; and

WHEREAS, the City is authorized under Chapter 211 of the Texas Local Government Code to
regulate zoning within the City; and

WHEREAS, City Staff has reviewed the current zoning regulations and have recommended
certain revisions and updates to the current zoning regulations; and

WHEREAS, on [_], notice to impacted property owners was provided in accordance
with State Law; and

WHEREAS, on [[lSSIGaIE | of the public hearings before the Planning & Zoning Commission
and City Council were published in the newspaper; and

WHEREAS, on [[iSCHRGAE|. the Planning & Zoning Commission conducted a public hearing,
and after consideration made a recommendation of approval of this amendment; and

WHEREAS, on [[iSSH@aIE |, the City Council conducted a public hearing, and after consideration
and recommendation by the Planning & Zoning Commission determined that the ordinance
amendment be approved as provided herein.

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY
OF DAINGERFIELD, TEXAS:

Section 1. Findings. The recitals, findings, and determinations contained in the
preamble to this Ordinance are incorporated into the body of this Ordinance as if fully set forth in
this Section and are hereby found and declared to be true and correct legislative findings and are
adopted as part of this Ordinance for all purposes.

Section 2. Amendments. The Zoning Ordinance of the Code of Ordinances of the City
of Daingerfield is hereby amended as set forth in the attached “Exhibit A.”

Section 3. Severability. If any provision, section, subsection, sentence, clause or
phrase of this Ordinance, or the application of same to any person or set of circumstances, is for
any reason held to be invalid, the validity of the remaining provisions of this Ordinance or their
application to other persons or sets of circumstances shall not be affected thereby, it being the
intent of the City Council in adopting this Ordinance that no provision of this Ordinance shall
become inoperative because of the invalidity of another provision; and, therefore, all provisions of
this Ordinance are declared severable for that purpose.
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Section 4. Open Meetings. It is hereby found, determined, and declared that
sufficient written notice of the date, hour, place and subject of the meeting of the City Council at
which this Ordinance was adopted was posted at a place convenient and readily accessible at all
times to the general public at the City Hall of the City for the time required by law preceding its
meeting, as required by the Texas Open Meetings Act, Chapter 551 of the Texas Government
Code, as amended, and that this meeting has been open to the public as required by law at all times
during which this Ordinance and the subject matter hereof has been discussed, considered and
formally acted upon. The City Council further ratifies, approves, and confirms such written notice
and the contents and posting thereof.

Section 5. Effective Date. This Ordinance shall take effect immediately upon its
passage as provided by law, except that existing businesses impacted have 180 days to come into
compliance.

PASSED, APPROVED and ADOPTED this the day of , 2026 at a regular meeting
of the City Council of the City of Daingerfield, Texas.

PASSED AND APPROVED on this the day of , 2026.

ATTEST: CITY OF DAINGERFIELD, TEXAS

Amanda Sanders, City Secretary Wade Kerley, Mayor
City of Daingerfield, Texas

-2
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Exhibit A

All text which is underlined denotes addition of new text. The City of Daingerfield Code of
Ordinances Zoning Ordinance is hereby amended as follows:

12.-2. Outdoor Storage Requirements.

(a) Outdoor tire storage areas shall be screened from public view by a solid. opaque fence or wall

with a minimum height of six (6) feet. One orderly display of less than ten (10) tires may be

displayed for retail purposes.

(b) Any person violating the provisions of this section may be found guilty of a misdemeanor,
and/or subject to additional enforcement action by the City. Upon conviction. the person found to
be violating the provisions of this section shall be fined an amount not less than $10.00 nor more
than $200.00. Each day that such violation continues shall be a separate offense.




Racial Profiling Report | Full

Agency Name: DAINGERFIELD POLICE DEPT.
Reporting Date: (01/07/2026
TCOLE Agency Number: 343201

Chief Administrator: TRACEY D CLIMER

Agency Contact Information:

Phone: (903) 645-2114
Email: tdc505@yahoo.com

Mailing Address:

101 LINDA DR, DAINGERFIELD, TX, 756382105

This Agency filed a full report

DAINGERFIELD POLICE DEPT. has adopted a detailed written policy on racial profiling. Our policy:

1) clearly defines acts constituting racial profiling;

2) strictly prohibits peace officers employed by the DAINGERFIELD POLICE DEPT. from engaging in racial
profiling;

3) implements a process by which an individual may file a complaint with the DAINGERFIELD POLICE
DEPT. if the individual believes that a peace officer employed by the DAINGERFIELD POLICE DEPT. has
engaged in racial profiling with respect to the individual;

4) provides public education relating to the agency's complaint process,

5) requires appropriate corrective action to be taken against a peace officer employed by the DAINGERFIELD
POLICE DEPT. who, after an investigation, is shown to have engaged in racial profiling in violation of the
DAINGERFIELD POLICE DEPT. policy;

6) requires collection of information relating to motor vehicle stops in which a warning or citation is issued and
to arrests made as a result of those stops, including information relating to:

a. the race or ethnicity of the individual detained;

b. whether a search was conducted and, if so, whether the individual detained consented to the search;

c. whether the peace officer knew the race or ethnicity of the individual detained before detaining that

individual;

d. whether the peace officer used physical force that resulted in bodily injury during the stop;

¢. the location of the stop;

f. the reason for the stop.

7) requires the chief administrator of the agency, regardless of whether the administrator is elected, employed,
or appointed, to submit an annual report of the information collected under Subdivision (6} to:
a. the Commission on Law Enforcement; and
b. the governing body of each county or municipality served by the agency, if the agency is an agency of a
county, municipality, or other political subdivision of the state.

The DAINGERFIELD POLICE DEPT. has satisfied the statutory data audit requirements as prescribed in Article
2.133(c), Code of Criminal Procedure during the reporting period.
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Executed by: Tracey Climer
Chief of Police

Date: 01/07/2026
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Total stops: 654

Motor Vehicle Racial Profiling Information

Street address or approximate location of the stop

City street

US highway

County road

State highway

Private property or other

Was race or ethnicity known prior to stop?
Yes
No

Race / Ethnicity
Alaska Native / American Indian
Asian [ Pacific Islander
Black
White
Hispanic / Latino

Gender

Female
Alaska Native / American Indian

Asian / Pacific Islander
Black
White
Hispanic / Latino
Male
Alaska Native / American indian
Asian / Pacific Islander
Biack
White
Hispanic / Latino

Reason for stop?
Violation of law
Alaska Native / American Indian
Asian / Pacific Islander
Black
White

533
81
2
32

194
420
38

278

90
169
18
376

104
251
20

28

11
16
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Hispanic / Latino

Preexisting knowledge

Alaska Native / American Indian
Asian / Pacific Islander

Black

White

Hispanic / Latino

Moving traffic violation

Alaska Native / American Indian
Asian / Pacific Islander

Black

White

Hispanic / Latino

Vehicle traffic violation

Alaska Native / American Indian
Asian / Pacific Islander

Black

White

Hispanic / Latino

Was a search conducted?

Yes

No

Alaska Native / American indian
Asian / Pacific Islander

Black

White

Hispanic / Latino

Alaska Native / American indian
Asian / Pacific Islander

Black

White

Hispanic / Latino

Reason for Search?
Consent

Alaska Native / American indian
Asian / Pacific Isiander

Black

White

o N = O O W

651

193
418
38

- 0 O O =
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Hispanic / Latino

Centraband

Alaska Native / American Indian
Asian / Pacific Islander

Black

White

Hispanic / Latino

Probable

Alaska Native / American Indian
Asian / Pacific istander

Black

White

Hispanic / Latino

Inventory

Alaska Native / American Indian
Asian |/ Pacific Islander

Black

White

Hispanic / Latino

Incident to arrest

Alaska Native / American Indian
Asian / Pacific Islander

Black

White

Hispanic / Latino

Was Contraband discovered?

Yes

No

Alaska Native / American Indian
Asian / Pacific islander

Black

White

Hispanic / Latino

Alaska Native / American Indian
Asian [ Pacific Islander

Black

White

Hispanic / Latino

OO - Q0O = 0O 2 00 0 -=-0O000 00000 Co oo

o

O N = OO0 o O O O O

S5of 9

Did the finding result in arrest?

(total should equal previous column}

Yes O No O
Yes O No O
Yes 0 No O
Yes 0 No O
Yes 0 No O
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Description of contraband

Drugs
Alaska Native / American Indian
Asian / Pacific Islander
Biack
White
Hispanic / Latino

Weapons
Alaska Native / American Indian
Asian / Pacific isiander
Black
White
Hispanic / Latino

Currency
Alaska Native / American Indian
Asian / Pacific Islander
Black
White
Hispanic / Latino

Alcohol
Alaska Native / American Indian
Asian / Pacific Islander
Black
White
Hispanic / Latino

Stolen property
Alaska Native / American Indian
Asian / Pacific islander
Biack
White
Hispanic / Latino

Other
Alaska Native / American Indian
Asian [ Pacific Islander
Black
White
Hispanic / Latino

Resutlt of the stop
Verbal warning

O 0000000000600 0000600 0OC0O0CO0D0O00O0C0C0OO0OO0OO0O Qoo
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Alaska Native / American Indian _

Asian / Pacific Islander
Black
White
Hispanic / Latino
Written warnina
Alaska Native / American Indian
Asian / Pacific istander
Black
White
Hispanic / Latino
Citation
Alaska Native / American Indian
Asian / Pacific Islander
Black
White
Hispanic / Latino
Written warning and arrest
Alaska Native / American Indian
Asian / Pacific Islander
Black
White
Hispanic / Latino
Citation and arrest
Alaska Native / American Indian
Asian / Pacific Islander
Black
White
Hispanic / Latino
Arrest
Alaska Native / American Indian
Asian / Pacific Islander
Black
White
Hispanic / Latino

Arrest based on
Violation of Penal Code
Alaska Native / American indian
Asian / Pacific Islander

o O O O O

512

136
347
27

140

—
—

OO0 0000 =m0 0 0200 =200 -

o
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Black
White
Hispanic / Latino

Violation of Traffic Law

Alaska Native / American Indian
Asian / Pacific Islander

Black

White

Hispanic / Latino

Violation of City Ordinance

Alaska Native / American Indian
Asian / Pacific Islander

Biack

White

Hispanic / Latino

Qutstanding Warrant

Alaska Native / American Indian
Asian / Pacific Islander

Black

White

Hispanic / Latino

O e 2 OO0 RN OO OO0 OO0 OO0 OO0 OO0

Was physical force resuiting in bodily injury used during stop?

Yes

No

Alaska Native / American Indian
Asian / Pacific Islander
Black
White
Hispanic / Latino
Resulting in Bodily Injury To:
Suspect
Officer
Both

Alaska Native / American indian
Asian / Pacific islander

Black

White

Hispanic / Latino

0

[ J o [ e B o B

o Q

654

194
420
38
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Number of complaints of racial profiling

Total 0

Resulted in disciplinary action 0

Did not result in disciplinary action 0
Comparative Analysis

Use TCOLE's auto generated analysis O

Use Department's submitted analysis

Optional Narrative
N/A

Submitted electronically to the

The Texas Commission on Law Enforcement

90f 9
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Racial Profiling Report | Exempt

Agency Name: DAINGERFIELD FIRE DEPT.
Reporting Date: 01/02/2026
TCOLE Agency Number: 343301
Chief Administrator: JAMES F CORNELIUS
Agency Contact Information:

Phone: (903) 918-0090

Email: 127chief@gmail.com

Mailing Address:
101 Linda Dr., City Hall, DAINGERFIELD, TX, 756381704

FULL EXEMPTION RACIAL PROFILING REPORT

Article 2.132 CCP Law Enforcement Policy on Racial Profiling a.) In this article:

1.) "Law enforcement agency" means an agency of the state, or of a county, municipality , or other political
subdivision of the state, that employs peace officers who make traffic stops in the routine performance of the officers’
official duties.

1 certify it is not the policy of this agency to make traffic stops in the routine performance of the officers' official
duties.

Executed by: Tracey Climer
Chief of Police

Date: 01/02/2026

Submitted electronically to the

The Texas Commission on Law Enforcement
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v/N V/N SUIUOW £ (Aqqel ajgleiN Aedo) HSa v/N 18D 9z0Z/0€/1 Y/N
v/N v/N SUIUOW £ (Aqge] ajglen Aeio) HSa v/N 1eD 9202/0€/1 v/N
V/N v/N SUYIUOA £ (o21qe1) HSQ ajewa 18D 9z0z/0€/1 v/N
v/N v/N SYIUO £ (Aqgel Aeig) Hsa v/N 1e) 9z0z/0€/1 v/N
v/N v/N V/N (Agge Aeig) Hsa 9jeway 1e) 9z0zZ/0€/1 v/N
v/N v/N SIBDA T paaig paxin ajewsa 8oq 920z/91/1 Auuad
Y/N V/N SIBBA T (Aeio) Hsa aleway 1ed szoz/8/et BAIYS
V/N v/N SIBAA T XA g€ a|elN Soq seoe/e/ct J23SIN
V/N v/N SYIUOW 1 (32e18) HSQ ajewsay 18D S20z/se/1t IEER

gzoz/ee/1 paidopy SIEIA Z (2e18) HSQ ajewsay 1) |szoz/oz/1tT uawing
v/N v/N SIB9A € XIAL|INg 3d alel 8og |szoz/iT/TT ejey
v/N V/N SUIUOW 0T paa.g paxin ajewad dog |szoz/cz/ot aisor
v/N V/N SHIIM £ XilA| BjnOye3e) aleway dog Gz20Z/12/L an.d
V/N v/N SHIM £ X e[noyele) aeway dog §z0z/te/t agaoyd
v/N Y/N Y23 9 pa2.g paxin 3leN 3og §202/€/2 As|uels
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City Council Code Enforcement Report

January 2026

This report outlines recent activities and updates related to code enforcement within the city. Our efforts remain focused
on maintaining the safety, health, and appearance of our community by ensuring compliance with local codes and
ordinances.

1. Inspections Conducted

e Total Inspections: [70]

e Types of Inspections: unsanitary conditions/ inoperable vehicles/ substandard buildings
e Property maintenance: [45]

e |noperable Vehicles [25]

e Signage: [6]

e Animal complaints: [10]

e Health and safety violations: [0]

2.. Actions Taken

e Warnings Issued: [17]

e Notices of Violation: [5]

e (Citations Issued: [5]

e Compliance Achieved: [18]

The Code Enforcement Department remains committed to upholding the city’s standards and improving the quality of
life for all residents. We appreciate the council's support and look forward to continuing our efforts to maintain a safe
and attractive community.

Thank you for your attention to this report. | am happy to answer any questions or provide further details as needed.

508 Taylor St. has been completed with abatement, 600 Ochiltree |s almost complete with abatement.

101 Linda Drive
Daingerfield, TX 75638 Phone: (903)-645-3906 www.cityofdaingerfield.com
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December

Date

1/1
11
11
1/2
1/2
1/4
1/5
1/9
1/12
1/14
1/14
1/15
1/16
1/16
1/17

121

1/23
1/24
1/24
1/27
1/27
1/27

Total Hours

Meeting/Training:

Date

1/8
1/13
1/15
1/17
1/22

Numbher of Calls: 22 YTD: 80
Water

Hours Personnel Remarks Used

5 5 DebriFire 10

9 9 Grass Fire 300

5 5 Grass Fire Assist Cason . ' 800

7 7 GrassFire ' 100

14 7 Brush Fire 1500

3 3 Lift Assist 0

11 11 Vehicle Crash 0

6 6 Vehicle Crash 0

4 4 AssistEMS 0

4 4 AssistEMS 0

2 2 AssistEMS 0

7 7 AssistEMS 0

24 12 Grass Fire Assist JenKins 3800

7 7 GrassFire Assist Jenkins 300

4 4 Assist EMS 0

5 5 AssistEMS 0

11 11 Vehicle Crash Ice Storm 0

6 6 Lift Assist Ice Storm 0

2 2 CO2 Detector Ice Storm 0

4 4 Assist EMS lceStorm 0

7 7 Vehicle Crash |Ice Storm 0

5 5 AssistEMS Ice Storm 0

Personnel Water
152 YTD: Responding: 133 YTD: Used: 6810
AVE: 8.75 YTD AVE: 9.06

Hours  Personnel
8 4
42 21
6 3
15 5
8 4

D

aingerfield Fire Department

Activity Report October 2025 thru September 2026
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Cancelled due
1/27 0 0 toice storm
1/29 8 4

Training HoursTotal:

87 41

Public Relations

Date Hours  Personnel
0 - 0

Public Relations Hours Total:

Monthly Total Hours; 239

Calendar Year:

City Responses YTD
QOutside City Responses YTD
Total:

11
11

22
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Monthly Council Report
Januarvy 2026

Cases Filed
Penal Count 3 Ordinance Count 4
Traffic Count 15 Parking Count 0
Other Count 2 STEP Count 0
Total Filed 24

Amounts Coliected

Tech Fund $46.95 Building Security Fund
State  $ 957.00 Fine
City $ 88465 Warrant Fee

Total Amount $ 3,517.10

Warrants
Issued 12 Recalled

Served 2 QOustanding Amount

Total Amount $ 1,896.40

Dispositions
Paid in Full 8 Credit for Time Served
Paid Partial 12 Dismissed
Appealed 0 Total Disposed
Trials
Jury 0 TJotal 9
Bench 9

Page 1 of 1

$ 57.51
$ 1,570.99
$124.70

2
$ 430,479.88

16

Printed: 2/2/2026
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CONFIDENTIAL

Citation Offense Count By Stop Type

Report Created: 2/2/2026 3:56:38 PM

Number of CITATIONS

21

Speeding 11-15 (6011 - 3001)

Fail to Maintain Financial Responsibility (3049)

Unsanitary Conditions (202)

Inoperable Vehicle (203)

Speeding 15+ (6015 - 3001)

No Drivers License (3103)

N NN Wl & B

Disregard Red Light (3007)

Possession Of Drug Paraphernalia (7000)

OPEN CONTAINER-Driver (3309)

Expired Motor Vehicle Registration (3656 - 3656)

Number of NON-TRAFFIC Offenses (for *ALL")
Number of CITATIONS .

Theft under100.00 First Offense (7012)

Public Intoxication 1st Offense (7005)

Powered by “) brazos

CONFIDENTIAL

lof1

53



CHIEF OF POLIC]I

Daingerfield Police Department
101 LINDA DRIVE « DAINGERFIELD, TX 75638

JANUARY 2026
CALLS OF SERVICE: 152
NUMBER OF TRAFFIC CONTACTS: 71
CRASH INVESTIGATIONS: 4
ARREST: 15

OFFICE (903) 645-2114 « DISPATCH: (903) 645-2232 « FAX: (903) 645-3263




PUBLIC WORKS REPORT
Report Period January 13t — 31%t, 2026

Personnel
¢ Number 7 full-time Public Works employees. 1 full-time Parks
¢ Comments
Parks
s Trash City park checked daily. Picked up trash off Hwy 259,
Carpenter St, Coffey St, Short St, Hwy 11.
¢ Mowing N/A

¢« Downtown Maintenance —_N/A.
¢ Miscellaneous — N/A .

Streets
e Patching Repaired Potholes on Carpenter St.
» Signage _N/A.
+ Mowing _N/IA
o Tree Trimming Trimmed/ removed trees from around Irvin Park, Bert

St, Nix St, Coffey St, Nichols St, Cason St, Walker St.

Drainage N/A.

Miscellaneous Prepping/ spreading salt preparing for Winter Storm

Fern.
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Water

Leak repairs
o Service lines N/A

o Main lines 2” main line 1305 Bert St, 6” to 2” main tap at

Glenn St and Dale Ave, 8” main repair Peters St.

¢ Connections 41

o Disconnections 2

« Meter reading start/end 1/12/26

¢+ Total meters read 1252
+ Total customers billed 1073

o Re-reads/l.eak Check 2

» Meters Replaced 0
» Pressure checks 0
» Taps instalied 1 — had to re-tap line after water leak repair.
e Fire Hydrants
o Repaired 0
o Replaced 0
o Flushed 28

City Departmental Usage

* (See Attached Listing)



Wastewater Treatment Plant

» Chlorine usage 387lbs .
¢ Maintenance/Repairs Contractors are working on racetrack and old

clarifier. All four new aerators are now installed and working in race track.

Ciarifier has be rebuilt. Final walk through to ensure it is running properly

is scheduled for 2/3/26.

¢ Non-Compliance __Discharge numbers are within permit levels.

¢ Explanation N/A.
- o Waste Water Treated
o Beginning reading _184215
o Ending reading 208762

o Total treated 15.032 Million Gallons — AVG — 0.485 MGD

o Rainfall 4.3”

o Sludge Removal 0 gallons

Lift Station
* Maintenance Daily checks to ensure compliance and no pump

issues. Weekly pulling of pumps at West Lift due to large amount of rags.

¢ Repairs N/A.
Sewer

e Number Calls 7

» Sewer Repairs 0

e Taps installed
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Miscellaneous Matters

Dropped off four carts, Picked up 5§ carts. Winterized buildings and pipes for
Winter Storm Fern.
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Water Accountability

Report Period
December 10th 2025 - January 10th
2026
Location

City Hall/Police Department 2,800
Library 400
Fire Department 800
Public Works 1,400
Wastewater Treatment Plant 473,700
Roundahout/Coffey St. 300
City Park (sprinkler) 100
Dixie Youth Baseball 3,400
Animal Shelter 15,600
Total City Usage 498,600
Total Gallons Billed 6,747,100
Fire Fighting Gallons estimate 6,810
Line Flushing estimate 1,733,805
Leaks estimate 12/10 -1/10 387,360
Bulk Water - 12/10 -1/10

Total Gallons Used 9,373,675
Total Gallons Delivered 10,312,800
Difference 939,125
Percentage Unaccounted 9%




City of Daingerfield
Financial Status Report

Reporting Period: January 31, 2026

Prepared for: City Council Meeting Packet

Overview

This report provides a summary of the city's financial position for the fiscal year through
January 2026. It includes revenue and expenditure figures for both the General Fund and
Water & Sewer Fund, compares actual performance to budget targets, and highlights any
notable trends.

1. Year-to-Date Revenue Summary

Category YTD Actual Budget Remaining $ Remaining %
General $1,553,543.17 $2,835,788.00 $1,282,244.83 45.22%
Revenue

Water/Sewer $510,099.94 $1,806,152.00  $1,296,052.06 71.76%

As of January, revenues are tracking higher, reaching approximately 44.46% of the annual
budget, while the target was 33.32%. 11.14% higher)

2. Year-to-Date Net Cash Position

The table below shows the Year-to-Date (YTD) revenue and expenditure for the General
Fund and the Water & Sewer Fund. The net cash position represents the surplus (or deficit)
in each fund.

Fund YTD Revenue YTD Expenses Net Position
General Fund $1,553,543.17 $946,490.73 $607,052.44
Water & Sewer $510,099.94 $447,334.65 $62,765.29

Both the General Fund and Water & Sewer Fund operate with a positive net cash position.
This indicates healthy financial performance and budgetary control for the current fiscal
year.
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CITY OF DAINGERFIELD

1/31/2026

CASH BALANCE SHEET

TX HERITAGE Bank/Cypress/TexSTAR

ACCOUNT NAME BALANCE RECEIPTS DISBURSE TOTALS
Consolidated - THB $ 721,148.81 | $ 36324519 339,864.83 | $ 744.529.17
TCDP Grant $ 202.09 | $ - . $ 202.09
RBEG LOAN FUND $ 157,258.17 | $ 4,980.60 $ 162,238.77
RBEG-TYPE B $ 97,097.03 | $ 10,392.70 $ 107,489.73
MCBS CHECKING $ 8,939.68 | $ 3.67 $ 8,943.35
MCTF CHECKING $ 124252 | $ 0.51 $ 1,243.03
MCBS/MCTF-CONSOLIDATED $ 100.00 $ 100.00
DDM CHECKING $ 735.19 $ 735.19
CHILD SAFETY-SZ $ 223927 | $ 0.92 $ 2.240.19
ANIMAL SHELTER $ 11,762.29 | $ 7.25 3 11,769.54
HOTEL/MOTEL CHCK $ 49,693.18 | $ 2.615.69 $ 52,308.87
PEG FEES SUDDNL $ 464443 | $ 1.91 - |8 4,646.34
LOCAL TRUANCY PREVENTION | $ 759.84 $ 759.84
HOME GRANT $ & $ -
TXCDBG GRANT $ " $ :
CITY PARK DONATION ACCOUNT] $ 100.00 $ 100.00
CYPRESS CD 02-1061 $ 141,062.16 -k 141,062.16
4.25% 811412026
CYPRESS CD 01-1037 $ 141,029.58 SE 141,029.58
4.25% 8/12/2026
CYPRESS CD 01-1040 $ 284,753.16 - s 284.753.16
4.0% 4/19/2026
CYPRESS CD 01-1041 $ 280,347.94 | $ 2,826.52 R E 283,174.46
4.0% 412312026
CYPRESS CD 02-1062 $ 284,766.65 - |5 284.766.65
4.0% 04/19/2026
CYPRESS CD 02-1063 $ 280,347.94 | $ 2.826.52 - |8 283,174.46
4.50% 4/23/2026
TexSTAR-01-1080 $ 103,042.73 | $ 324.46 $ 103,367.19
YIELD-3.7% :

TexSTAR-02-1080 $ 414.666.51 | $ 1,305.68 $ 415,972.19
YIELD- 3.7%
TX HRTG C.O.B. # 2941 $ 836,290.69 | $ = 836,190.69 | $ 100.00
TX HRTG C.O.B. # 2968 $ 100.00 $ 100.00
TX HRTG C.O.B. # 2984 $ 73.00 [ $ 9,477.43 $ 9,550.43
TX HRTG C.O.B. # 2976 $ 186,124.25 | $ . 186,024.25 | $ 100.00
TX HRTG C.O.B. #1606 $ 100.00 $ 100.00
TX HRTG C.O.B. #1614 $ 967649 | $ 1.06 956500 | $ 112.55
TX HRTG DEBT SERVICE #1835 | $ 172,804.44 | $ 25.314.60 $ 198,119.04
TX HRTG C.O.B. #2823 $ 8,775.50 | $ - 867550 | $ 100.00
TX HRTG C.O.B. #2831 $ 100.00 $ 100.00
TX HRTG C.O.B. #4249 $ 3,550.00 | $ N 3,450.00 | $ 100.00
TX HRTG C.O.B. #4257 $ 100.00 $ 100.00
GRAND TOTAL $ 4322373059 398,009.05 149334478 | $  3,044,456.39

CD's Maturing 2026

Pool Account- No Term
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Minutes of Regular Meeting

Northeast Texas Municipal Water District
Board of Directors

December 29, 2025 — 10:G0 a.m.

The Board of Directors of the Northeast Texas Municipal Water District mei in an open meeting on
Tuesday, December 29, 2025, at 10:00 A M. The meeting was held at Northeast Texas Municipal Water
District’s Executive Office located at 4180 Farm Read 230, Hughes Springs, Texas 75656. Notice of
the meeting was lepally posted. A quorum was present. An opportunity was provided for public
comments before any action was taken by the Board of Directors.

Present: Jack Salmon - City of Avinger
Robyn Shelton - City of Hughes Springs
Dennis Hammond - City of Lone Star
Jimmy E. Cox - City of Ore City
Patrick Smith - City of Pittsburg

Staff: Qsiris Brantley - NETMWD
Dominik Sobietaj - NETMWD
Aracely Reyes - NETMWD

President Jimmy Cox called the meeting to order at 10:00 A.M, Jack Salmon gave the invocation. Mr,
Cox led the directors in the Pledge of Allegiance to the United States and Texas flags.

On a motion by Dennis Hammond and a second by Robyn Shelton, minutes of the November 24, 2025,
meeting were approved. Motion carried. all voting aye.

Jack Salmon made a motion to approve the monthly investment report, to approve financial reports on
all current accounts and funds, and to pay invoices for professional services, Dennis Harnmeond seconded
the motion. Motion carried, all voting ave.

Dominik Sobieraj gave the Operations Manager report:
Operations and Maintenance Report

Raw water quality is challenging to moderate. Alum dosages are stable between 50mg/l and
65meg/l.

Pittsburg Water Treatment Plant

«  Water Treatment and Process Control:
o Finished TCEQ routine inspection.
= Awaiting exit interview report.

Tanner Water Treatment Plant and System-Wide Activities

+ Master Flow Meter Replacement:
o Insalled a new 24-inch mag flow meter on the raw water main at Tanner Plant.
»  Meter accidentally damaged by contractor during installation.
* Contractor purchasing a new meter.

» Capital Improvement Projects (CIP 25/26):
o Finished raw water intake dredging.
» Campleted north and south gates sedimentation removal,
* Cleaned out the dry shore in front of the intake.
* Moved wet sludge into the wpper lagoon and drying fields.
o Finished new VFD electrical room for raw water pump #3.

s Process Optimization and Maintenance:
¢ Continuing to address organic content in source water,
v Continuing to lower chlorine dosages.
= Working on fine-tuning the chlorine to ammonia ratic.
«  Preparing for basin wash rotation.
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Board of Directors
December 29. 2025
Page 2

During the General Manager's report. Osiris Brantley updated the Board on Luminant. Their continued
work on the pit’s bank caused a minor delay on water quality testing. The Corps of Engineers invoice
was received and compared to budget. Mrs. Brantley informed the Board that audit fieldwork had been
conducted the week before. and auditors would present their findings at the January board meeting.

On 4 motion by Dennis Hammond and a second by Robyn Shelton. the next meeting of the Board of

Directors was set for January 26. 2026. Motion carried. all voting ave.

The Board of Directors meeting was adjourned at 10:20 A.M. ona motion by Patrick Smith with asecond
from Dennis Hammond. Motion carried. all voting aye,

APPROVED:

Jijnmy E. C‘.@Vi’residem '4

ATTEST:
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Northeast Texas Municipal Water District

Financial Statements
And Independent Auditor's Report

For the years ended September 30, 2025 and 2024
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ANNUAL FILING AFFIDAVIL

THE STATE OF TEXAS

COUNTY OF MORRIS

L Osiris Brantley . General Manager of the Northeast Texas Municipal Water District hereby swear, or alfirm. that the
District named above has reviewed and approved at a meeting of the Board of Drectors of the District on the &]:J)\

of F@bm@ﬂg . 2026, its annual audit report tor the fiscal year orperind ended September 30. 2025,

and that copies of the annual audit report have been filed in the District office. located at Highway 250. Hughes Springs.

Texas.

[he annual filing affidavit and the attached copy of the annual audit report are being submitted to the Texas Commission

on Environmental Quality in satisfaction of all annual filing requirements within Section 49.194 of the Texas Water

Code
Date: _q_é__bma M_g_ g 2026
By: Sy el e e e e R
Osiris Brantley. Generg
Sworn to and subscribed 1o before me lhisaﬁ' day of mm‘mr___ 2026.
ARACELY REYES

My Notary ID # 132923167

~(SEAL) S Uy {Signated ol Notary)
My Commission Expires On. MQT_L\_ :Ldlai‘ Notary Public in and for the State of

['exas.
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Lanny G. Walker, CPA. PFS
Kris Arnold, CPA. PFS
Andrew Arnold, CPA

CPAs & Advisors

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Board of Directors
Northeast Texas Municipal Water District
Hughes Springs, Texas

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinions

We have audiled the accompanying [inancial statements of the business-type activities and each major fund of Northeast Texas Municipal Water
District as of and for the years ended September 30, 2025 and 2024, and the related notes Lo the financial statements, which collectively comprise the
District’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the business-lype
activities and each major fund of the District, as of September 30, 2025 and 2024, and the respective changes in financial position, and, cash flows
thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinions

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to
tinancial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report, We are required to be
independent of the District and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.

Respousibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions orevents, considered in the aggregate, that raise
substantial doubt about the District's ability to continue as a going concern for twelve months beyond the financial stalement date, including any
currently known information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are [ree from material misstatement, whether due
1o fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute
assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing
Stanclards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting & material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made
by a reasonable user based on the financial statements.

In performing an audil in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and Government Awditing Standards, we:
»  Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

e Identily and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements.

*  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s internal control.
Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed,

915N. Jefferson Ave. » P.O.Box 1217+ Mt Pleasant, TX 75456

P. 903.572.6606 « F. 903.572.3751 = firm@awacpa.com
Member: American Institute of Certified Public Accountants « Texas State Society of Certified Public Accountants
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+ Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements.

e Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt
about the District’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time,

We arc required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related maiters that we identified during the audit.

Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requirc that the management’s discussion and analysis and
net pension liabitity and comiributions tc TRS on pages 4-7 and 29 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements, Such
information is the responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the
Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial
statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards gencrally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted
of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and cornparing the information for consistency with
management’s responses (o our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audits of the basic
financial statements, We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not
provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance,

Suppiementary Information

Our audits wete conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise the District’s basic
financial statements, The suppiemental section as listed in the table of contents is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is
not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and
relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The information has been
subjected to the auditing pracedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and cerain additional procedures, including
comparing, and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial
statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America, [n our opinion, the supplemental section is fairly stated, in all material respects, in
relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

[n accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated Decermnber 17, 2025, on our consideration of
the District’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations,
contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal
control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and notto provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the
District’s intcrnal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance
with Government Auditing Standards in considering District’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

Arnold, Walker, Arsold & Co., D.C.

Amold, Walker, Amold & Co., P.C.
December 17, 2025
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Northeast Texas Municipal Water District
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

‘The Northeast Texas Municipal Water District was crealed in 1933 and performs two primary putposes. One purpose is 1o assure
a sufficient supply of water for Northeast Texas. A second purpose is to assure waterguality ia the Cypress Creek Basin, During
the time from October L. 2024, to September 30, 2023, significant activities occurred in furtherance of cach of these purposes.
During this time, the District had a net position of $28.t million dollars and operating income wax $3.2 million.

Financial Highlights

For September 30, 2025

+  The total assets and deferred outflows related to TCDRS pension and debt refunding of the District are $45.2 million.

o The total liabilities and deferred inflows related to TCDRS are $17.1 million.

e The total net position of the District increased by $3.0 million as compared to an increase of 2.2 million the prior year
from net income. The larger increase than the previous year is due to a decrease in costs of contracted services. debt
service, accretion on capital appreciation bonds, and a larger increase te revenue mainly due to increased rates,

e The District was reguired 10 record its portion of the net pension asset/liability as per Governmental Accounting Standards
Board (GASE) Statement number 68. The District is overfunded with a net pension asset of $697 thousand and deterred
outflows of resources of $173 thousand related to TCDRS and deferred inflows ofresources of $111 thousand. an increase

of $27 thousand.

Qverview of the Financial Siatemenis

This section is intended 1o serve as an introduction fo the District’s basic financial staiements. The basic financial statements are:
I} Balance Sheet: 2) Statement of Revenues. Expenses, and Chanpes in Fund Net Position: and, 3) Statement of Cash Flows.

The Balance Sheet indicates the financial condition at the end of the fisca! year expressed in terms of assets. liabilitics, and net
position. The Stakement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position indicatesthe etfect of activities during the fiscal year.
Staterment ol Cash Flaws indicates the effect that activities have had on the cash position of the Diistrict over the fiscal year.

Soms of the information in the basic statements has been separated by enterprise. Concerning this separation. please be aware that
waler production has been separately identified in some of these statements.

The District providss water in lwo ways. One way is to make the water available in a aw or uaimproved condition. A second way
that water is made available is in a potable condition. The information in the financial statements {abeled ~Regional Water Supply
System” or "RWSS™ is information rclated to the operations where water is made potsble and then sold on a wholesale basis. The
District opetates two regional water treatment plants that change the water from its nalural condition to a condition usable for
municipal and industrial consumption. The District developed and operates a regional water project serving needs in areas that are
south and west of Lake O the Pines. The financial information labeled ~Lake O the Pines South Side” or "LOPSS™ reters to that
regionat project that primarily serves Tryon Road SUD, Diana SUD. and Ore City.

The financial information under the label of “Primary Water District” is information pertaining 1o the averall administration of the
District. raw water salcs, and efforts to assure water quality. To assure water quality. the District has several active programs,
Some of these programs are principaily funded by grants from the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality { TCEQ). the Texas
Siate Soil and Water Conservation Board { TSSWCR) or funded by coniributions from other sources. The District pertormed all
of the tasks associated with the Onsite Septic Facilities Program (QSSF) in the counties of Upshur, Marion, Morris, and Cass for
the audited year. In the audited year. the District continued a significant multi-year effort refaled to reducing nutrient loading in

the Cypress Creek Basin,
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Northeast Texas Municipal Water District
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Overview of Financial Activities and Analvsis

To begin our analysis, a summary ef the District™s Statement of Net Position and Statement of Revenues. [spenses. and Changes

in Fund Net Position is presented.
The Distnct's Net Posstinn

Business-Type
Activities
2023 2024

Current anid other assets 8579542 Badal ] 19
Capital and non-current assers 356082535 36,0484 24
Net pensien asset 697,183 534,588
TOTAL ASSETS 4.1,884 980 13,048131
Deterred Qutllow related o TCDRS and debt refunding 345903 546427
TOTAL DEFERRED QUTFLOW OF RESOURCES 345903 346,427
Long-lemn liabilities 1533971 16743464
Other liebilities 1 680 733 1 674872
Net pension liabihty - -
TOTAL LIABILITIES 17,020,477 15,413,336
Deferrec Inflow related to TCDRS 111,474 54028
TOTAL DEFERRED INFLOW OF RELSOLRCES 111 474 84,028
Invested in cupital assets,

net ol related debt 20,269 481 |9.631.080
Rastrrcted/raserved 2. 256.000 198773
Unreswicted 5.573.451 3,242,333
TOTAL NET POSITION 28,098,932 3080154

The Disinict's Changes inNet Position
Busmess-Type

Activities
2023 2024

Revenues

Raw water sales 3.098.890 2932052
Treated water sales 4,987,769 4351129
State grants 147.052 193,157
Other grants 3372 3433
Insestment income 277 382 246 348
Other 238311 154 364
Total revenues 5723076 7A70 583
Expenses

Personnel 1616313 368,642
Supplies 3337108 512135
Mainrenance 469630 8013687
Contractualt services 961,833 §50.796
Deprezialion 1.218.845 t[80.003
State grant programs 127.210 113234
Other grant expenses - 1,370
inferest cxpense (Al 735,899 745,334
Total expenses 3,713,438 5633821
Ingrease {deerease) in net assets betore transfers 3.009.738 2234 604
Transfers {net) - -
fncrease (decrense) in net position 30U 338 2134 664
Beginaing net position 23.089.194 223834530
Ending net position 2R.098.932 25089194

(A} Interest accretion on capitat appreciation bonds was 3232 thousand in liscal year 2024 and was $132 thousand in Ascal
vear 2025,
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Northeast Texas Municipal Water District
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Raw water revenue slightly increased trom the previous year to a contracted rate increase, No new customers of raw water were
added during the fiscal year. The revenues from most o the raw water conlracis are more influcnced by the amount reserved rather
than the amount actually divenied. Treated waler revenue increased due te a rate increase for both member cities as well as non-
member cusiomers. Production at the Tanner Plant which serves both LOPSS and RWSS exceeded 1.043 billion gallons in fiscal
year 2025. Freated waler sales are usually affected by weather conditions. According to the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers. rainfall
a1 Lake G the Pincs in fiscal ycar 2025 was aboul 33.61 inches, compared 10 2747 inches in 2024 The shared production expenses
for treated water produced by the Tanner Plant continue 1o have beneficial effects on RWSS and LOPSS,

Capital Assets And Debt Administration

Capitai Assets
District's Capital Assels
{it thousands of dollars)

2023 2024

Mon-dgpreciable:

Land and right-ol-way 1.462 1.462

Water rights 1.733 1.753
Degreciable:

Water treatment plants 28155 21713

Water lines and inlake structures 25,497 23.400

Buildings 757 749

Other 3,686 3454
Less accumulated depreciation: {25,702} {24, 483)

35.608 36,048

The District added $779 thousand of new assets in fiscal year 2025,

Long-Term Debt.
District's Long-Term Debt

{in thousands of dollars)

Bonds payable 13,166 16,397

$1.5 million of debt principal was retired in the current year.
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Northeast Texas Municipal Water District
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Economic Factors and Next Year's Budget

The adopted 2025/2026 Budget anticipates no changes in rates. Treated water per thousand gallons will continue to be $3.48 for
member cities and $5.08 For non-member customers. The district will continue to make capital improvements 1o its raw waler
delivery systems, waler treatment plants and treated water transmission sysiems, to assure reliable provision of the highest water
quality drinking water at the lowest possible cost. The budget anticipates over $1.5 million in capital infrastruciure projecs.
Looking ahead, the treated water rates will continue to be adjusicd to address revenve sufficiency and maintenance ot adequate
operational and emergency rescrves,

Request for [ntonnation:

This tinancial report is designed to provide a general overview of the District’s tinances for those with an interest in the District’s
uctivilies. Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report or requests for additional financial information
should be addressed to Northeast Texas Municipal Waler District. PO Box 955, Hughes Springs. TX 75636,
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BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

[
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Northeast Texas Municipal Water District
STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION—PROPRIETARY FUNDS
As of September 30, 2025 and 2024

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash on hand and in bank
Investmenis
Rececivables:
Water sales
Grants receivable
Interfund rceeivable
{nventnry
Total current assets

Non-current assets
Restricted cash in bank
Restricted investments
Utility deposits
Capilal assuts
Less: accumulated depreciation
Net pension asset
Total non-current assets

Total assets

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred outflow of resources related to TCDRS
Deferred outflow related to debt refunding

Total deferred outflows of resources

LIABILITIES
Cusrent liabilities
Current partien of bonds payable
Accounts payable
Acecrued expenses
interfund payable
Uneamed revenues:
Walter sulcs
Other
Tortal current liabilities

Non-currant liabilities
Accrued expenses
Bonds payahle
Net pension hability
Total non-current liabilities

Total liabilities

DEFERRED TNFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred inflow of resources related to TCDRS
Total deferrad inflows of resources

NET POSITHON
Invested in capital assets, net of related debl
Restricted for debt service
Restricted for olher purposes
Unrestricted
Total net position

Enierprise Funds

Primary Regional Water
Water District Supply System
2023 2024 2025 24

548,015 350,385 795.016 215,942
2.983.837 §.651.625 - -
246,449 386446 364,436 227,582
27,309 27628 - -

- - 85,814 85,814

- - - 64,686
3,805.610 2,416084 1,245,266 598,024
- - 114,250 115,697

- - 1,965,504 1,930,652

50 50 - -
5,221,058 5212832 35,249,692 34,581,869
{1.49%,693) {1,432612) (18,287,557} {17,517.982)
320,704 251,256 250,986 192,452
4,042,119 4,031,526 19,292,875 19,302,688
7.847,729 6,441610 20.538. 141 19,900,712
79,506 94,142 62,222 72,109
79.506 04,142 62,222 72,109

- - 155,000 155,000

60,951 54451 5,773 4,413
2,038 2,807 10,615 11,233

- - 1,194,470 1,194,470

235,499 233,304 - -
298,488 292,562 1,365,858 1,365,116

- ~ 26,500 26,500

- - 1,240,000 1,395,060

- - 1,266,300 1,421,500

__ 298488 292,562 2,632,358 2,786,616
51,278 39493 40,131 30,250
51,278 39,493 40, 131 30,250
3.721.3635 3,780,221 13,567,135 15,513,887
- - 2,079,754 2,046,349
3,856,104 2,429476 280,985 {404,281)
7,377,469 6,209,697 17,927,874 17,155,953

I'he accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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Total

Lake (' the Pines Proprietary
South Side Funds
2025 2024 2025 2024

500 500 1,343,531 570,827

- - 2983 R37 1,651,625

163,540 143,030 774,425 757.058

- - 27,309 27628

1,108,656 1,108,656 1,194,470 1,194,470

- - - 64,686

1,272,696 1,252,186 6,323,572 4,266,294

176,216 149,426 290,466 265,123

- - 1,965,504 1,930,652

- - 50 50

20,839,528 20,736,931 61,310,278 60.53 1,652
{3.914,823) (5,532,634) {25,702,073) (24.483,228)

125,493 30,880 697,183 534,588

15,226,414 15,444,623 38,561,408 38,778 837

16,499,110 16,696,809 44,884,980 43 045,131

3L 34,051 172,839 200,302

173,064 346,125 173.064 346,125

204175 380,176 345,903 546,427

1,326,345 1,382,045 1,481,345 1,537,045

145,907 144,307 212,631 203,171

- 1.387 12,653 15.427

- - 1,194,470 1,194,470

- - 235499 235304

1,472,252 1,527,739 3,136,598 3,185.417

- - 26,500 26.500

12,617,379 13,811,419 13,857,379 15,206,419

12,617,379 13,861,419 13,883,879 15,232,919
14,08%.631 15,339,158 17,020,477 18418.336

20,063 14,285 111,474 84.028

20,065 i4.285 111,474 84,028

580,981 356978 20,269,481 19,651,086

- - 2,079,754 2,046,349

176,246 149426 176.246 149.426

{,436,362 1,217,138 5,573.451 3,242,333

2,593,589 1,723,342 28,098,932 25,089,194




MNortheast Texas Municipal Water District

STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES [N FUND NET POSITION—PROPRIETARY FUNDS

For the years ended September 30, 2025 and 2024

OPERATING REVENUES
Raw water sales
Treated water sales
State grants
Other grants
Total aperating revenues

OPERATING EXPENSES
Perscnnel
Suppiies
Maintenance
Contractual services
Depreciation
State grant programs
Other grant programs

Total operating expenses

OPERATING INCOME (LOSS)
NON-OPERATING REVENULES (EXPENSES)}

Investment income, net

Interest expense and debt fees

(tther

Total non-pperating revenues (expenses)

INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE TRANSFERS
TRANSFERS, NET
INCREASE (DECREASE) IN NET POSITION
NET POSITION (DEFICIT) at beginning of year

NET POSITION (DEFICIT) at end of year

The accompanying notes are an integral part of thes stalements.

Enterprise Funds

10

Primary Regional Water
Water District Supply System
2025 2024 2025 2024
3,098,890 2922052 - -
- - 2855596 2,152,841
147,052 (93157 - -
3,572 3435 - R
3,249,514 3,118,644 2,855,596 2,152,841
740,479 631,15 592,867 587,462
23,434 26,020 306,670 39,112
390,014 528469 50,988 50,830
464,563 474,584 314,994 264,115
67,081 66,659 769,573 733418
127.210 113,234 - -
- 1,270 - R
1,814,881 1,863,751 2,035,094 1,954,937
1,434,633 1,254,863 820,502 197,904
137.924 140012 89,458 106,336
. . (87,703) (102,880)
238,047 137,667 5464 1,897
375,971 277679 7219 5,353
1,810,604 15323572 §21.721 203,257
{442 432) {1.173.152) {53,802) 645,962
137,772 158820 771919 349,219
6,209,697 5850877 17,155,955 16,306,736
7,577,469 6,209,697 17927874 17,155,955
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Lake () the Pines Proprietary
Scuth Side Funds
2023 2024 2025 2024
- - 3,098.890 1922052
2,132,173 2,198,188 4,987,769 4351029
- - 147,052 193,157
- - 3,572 3433
2,132,173 2,198,188 8,237,283 7469673
282,967 290,043 1,616,313 1,528,722
251,604 227,623 583,708 572,155
28,528 24 388 469,630 603,687
182,276 149,717 961,833 890,716
382,189 379,926 1,218,845 1,180,003
- - 127,210 113,234
- - - 1,270
1,127,564 1,071,699 4.977,539 4,890,387
1,004,609 1,126,489 3,259,744 4579,286
- - 227382 246,348
(648, 196) {642,654) {735,899} {745,534}
15,000 15,000 258,511 154,564
(633.196) (627.654) {250,006) (344,622)
371413 498,835 3,009,738 1234664
498,634 527,790 -
870,047 1,026,625 3.009,738 1234664
1,723,542 696,917 25,089,194 22,854,530
2,593,580 1,723,542 28,098,932 25,089,194
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Northeast Texas Municipal Water District
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS—PROPRIETARY FUNDS
For the years ended Seplember 30, 2025 and 2024

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash received from customers
Cash reczived from grants
Cash paid to suppliers
Cash paid to employees including benefits
Cash paid for statc grant programs

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activilies

CASH FLOW FROM NON CAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Transfers from {to) other funds

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of capital assets
Interest, paying agent fiees, and bond issuance costs paid
Bond principal paid

Net cash provided by {used in) capital and related financing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Net {purchases) sales of investment pools
Purchase of investment securities
Redemption of investment securities
Pringipal paydowns on mortgage-backed securities
lnterest recerved on investments

Net cash provided by {used in ) investing activities

NET INCREASE {DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, at beginning of year

CASH AND CASH EQUAVALENTS, at end of year

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME {LOSS) TO NET CASH
PROVIDED BY (USED IN} OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating income (loss)
Adjustments Lo reconcile operatin gincome (loss) to nef
cash provided by {used in) operating activities:
Depreciation
Miscellaneous income
Decreasef(Increase) in net pension assets and deferred outflowsfinflows
Decrease /{increase) in accounts receivable
{ncrease/decrease in:
Inventory
Accounts payable
Accrued liabitities
Uneamed revenues
Net cash provided by (used in ) operating activities

Enterprise Funds
Primary Regional Water
Water Districl Supply System
2025 2024 2025 2024
3477180 2,848 616 2,726,924 2084304
150,943 191,947 - .
{871,465)  ([007.261) {609,326) (64717)
{784,325) (731,735} (631,525) (624.410)
(123,357) (199,127 - .
1,842.57% 1,202,430 1,486,073 812,723
(442,830 {1,173,752) (55,802} 645 962
(8,22 {1,098} {667,823) (757331
- - (88,417 (104.146)
- - {135,000) 661,939
(3,226) {1,098) {911,250) (1,523418)
(2200000  (2016,000) - .
998,800 1,855,000 46,797 163,000
- - 4,559 5473
6,912 115,237 3,250 7147
{1,194,288) (45,%63) 34,606 175,620
197,630 {18,133) 573,627 110,887
350,385 368,518 335,639 224752
348,015 350,385 908,266 335.63¢
1.434,633 1254893 820,502 197,904
61.08) 66,639 769,575 733418
138,047 t37,667 5,464 1,897
{43,027 {40,702) {38,766) (37,180
140,316 (127.041) (136,854) (70425)
- - 64,686 -
0,500 (100,43)) 1,360 {E3.114)
{76%) 102 106 223
195 11,333 - -
1,842,9% 1,202,430 1,486,073 812,723

e ———

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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Lake O the Pines

Total
Proprietary

South Side Funds
2025 2024 2023 2024

2.126.633 2.146.184 8.330.737 7.079.104
- - 150,943 291,987
{460.808) (335322 {1.941.599) (1.989754)
{308.860) (304.916) {1.724.710) (1.661,061)
. {129,357) (199.127)

1,356.965 1,503,946 4.686,014 1.521.149
498,634 527,790 - -
{102.577 (317.211) {778.626) (1.075.642)
(344,207 (239,825) {432.634) (343,571}
(1.382.025) {1.483.600) (1.537.025) (2,143,539}
{1.828.809) {2.040.636) (2.748,283) {3.363.152)
y - (2.200.000) {2.016.000)

- - 1,045,597 2,018,000

- - 4559 5473

- - 10.162 122384

- - {1.139,682) 129.857

26,790 (6.900) 798.047 85.854
149,926 156.826 833.950 750.096
176,716 149.926 1,633,997 $35.930
1,004,609 [.126.489 3.259.744 2,579,286
382,189 379.926 1.218.845 1,180,003
15,000 15.000 258511 34,564
(25.893) {14,871} {107.686) {92,753)
{20.540) (67.018) {17.078) (264.484)

. - 64,686 .
[.600 66,420 9,460 {47,125}

- (663) 3238

- . 195 11,333
1.136,963 1.303.946 4.686.014 3,321,149

13
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Northeast Texas Municipal Water District
NOTES 10 THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At September 30, 2023 and 2024

1, SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Northeast Texas Municipal Water District (District} was crealed in 1953 by the legisiature of the State ol Texas. The member
cities are Avinger. Daingerlicld. 1lughes Springs, Jefferson, Lone Star, QOre Cilty, and Pittsburg, The Distrier provides raw and
purified water on a wholesale basis to the member cities and industrial users.

A summary of the District’s significant accounting policies cansistently applied in the preparation of the accompanying financial
statements follows:

A. REPORTING ENTITY

The reporting entity refers to the scope of activities, organizations, and finctions included in the financial staements. The District
is an independent unit with no dependent agencies and s managed by goeverning bedy of appointed officials. The funds included
in these financial statements represent the reperting enlity in accordance with requirements of the Governmental Accounling

Standards Board.

B. FUND ACCOUNTING

The District's accounts are organized on the basis of funds, each of which is considered to be a scparate accounting entity. The
operations of each fund are accounted for by providing a separate sel of seit-balancing accounts which are comprised of each fund’s
assels. Habilities, fund equily, revenues, and expenses. The following is a deseription of the fund type used by the District in the

accompanying financial stalements.

C. PROPRIETARY FUNDS

Fnterprise Funds are used to account for operations that are financed and operated in a manner similar to private business enterprises
— where the intent of the governing body is that the costs {expenses, including depreciation) of providing gaods or services to the
general public on a continuing basis be financed or recovered primarily lhrough user charges. The District’s three major enierprise

funds are described below:

1. Primary Water District Fund - accounts for the aperations of providing a raw water supply for municipal and industrial
use out of the Lake O the Pines.

2. Regional Water Supply System Fund - accounts for the operatiors of providing a treated water supply to the District’s
memoer cities and olher customers.

3. Lake O' the Pines South Side Fund — accounts for the construction of improvetaents providing a treated water supply to
the communities of Tryon Road, Diana. and Ore City.

D. BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

The accompanying (tnancial statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles as
prescribeit by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board {GASB). With this measurement focus, all assets and all labilities
associated with the operation of these funds are included on the fund Statement of Net Position. The fund equity is segregaled inta
fnvested in capital assets net of related debt. restricted net position. and unrestricted net position.

Proprietary Funds are accounted for using the accrual basis of accounting whereby revenues are recognized wher earmed and
expenses are recognized when incurred.

E. DEPRECIATION

Depreciation is provided for in the Enterprise Funds in amounts sufficient to relate the costof depreciable assets to operations over
their estimated service lives on the straight-line method. The service lives by type of assetare as (olipws:

Water intake structure 80 Years
Water rreatment plants and pipelines  30-B0 Years
Quiidings 10-30 Years

Auto, fumiture, wols and equipment 3-10 Years
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Northeast Texas Muaicipal Water District
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Al Seplember 30, 2025 and 2024

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES contirneed

F. BOND ISSUANCE COSTS

The District elected to early implement GASB 65 regarding bond issuance costs, These costs are now charges (o expense in the
year incurred.

G. UNEARNED REYENUE

Water sales, government grants. aad other revenues are recognized when earned. Revenues are considered to be earned when the
District has performed all services relaled to the generaiion of revenue. At September 30, 2025 and 2024, the District had received
payment for services to be perfonned subsequent to year end. This resulted in deferral of revenue recognition until the period
when service is performed.

H. INVESTMENTS

The District carries all debt securities al fair market value.

I. RECEIVABLES

Accounts receivable are considered fully collectible: accordingly, no allowance for doohtful accounts is required. In the event an
account becomes uncollectible in the future, in whole or in par, such amount will be charged to operalions when that determination
is made.

J. VACATION AND PERSONAL TIME OFF

The District provides for vacations and personal time off. Vacation days may not be carried over fion oee year to the next. Any
unuscd vacation is payable upon termination. Emplayees may accrue 12 days per year of sick leave. The amount accrued is not
payable upon termination. death. or retirement

K. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

For purposes of reporting cash (lows, eash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and cash deposit accounts in banks.
I. RESTRICTED CASH AND INVESTMENTS

Some cash and investments are restricted for future debt payments.

M. PENSION PLAN

The fiduciary net position of the T'exas County & District Retirement System (TCDRS) has been delermined using the flow of
cconomic resources measurement focus and full accrual basis of accounting. This includes for purposes of measuring the net
pensian liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions, pension cxpense, and
information about assets, liabilities and additions to/deductions from TCDRS’s fiduciary net position. Benefit paymenis { including
refunds of employee coniributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit lerms. Investments are
reported at fair vaiue.

N. DEFERRED QUTFLOWS/INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Deferred OQutflows/Influws of Resources—The District implemented GASB Statement No. 63, Financial Reporting of Deferred
Outflows of Resources, Deferred inflows of Resources, and Nel Position and GASB Statement No. 63, ltems Previously Reported
as Assets and Liabilities for the year ended September 30, 2013, The District implemented GASB Statement No. 68 as amended
by GASB 71, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions for the year ended September 30, 2016, [n addition to assets, the
statement of net position will sometimes report a separate section tor deferred outflows of resources. This separate financial
statement element, deferred outflows of resources, represents a consumption of net position that applics 1w a future period(s) and
se will nol be recognized as an outllow of resources (expense/expenditure} until then, The District has one type of item that
qualifies for reporting in his category, outflows related to TCDRS as per GASR 68 as amended by GASR 71, relatad to pension
accounting. These will be recognized as an outflow of resources in the subsequent years as they are amortized.

In addition to liabilities, the statemenl of net position will sometimes report a separete section for deferred inflows of resources.
This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of resources. represent an acquisition of nel position that applies 1o a
future perind and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that lime. The District has one Ivpe of item
that qualifies for reporting in this category, deferved inflows related to TCDRS. This amount will be recognized as an inflow of
resources in the subsequent vears as collected.
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Northeast Texas Municipal Water District
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At September 30, 2025 and 2024
Q. USE OF ESTIMATLS
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with acceunting principles penerally aceepted in the United States of America
requires management to make estimates and assuoptions ihat affect ceriain reported amounts and disclosures. Accordingty. actual
resulls could differ from these estimates.

P. OTHER

When the District incurs an expense for which it may use cither restricied or uncestricted assets. i uses the restricted assets first
whenever they witl have o be returned if not used.

Il. DETAILED NOTES

A, CASH,CASH EQUIYALENTS AND INVESTMENTS

Cash and Cash Equivalents

District Policies and Legal and Contraclual Provisions Governing Deposits

Custodial Credit Risk for Deposits  State law requires governmental entities to contract with financial mstitutions in which funds
will be deposited to secure those deposits with insurance or pledged securities with afair value equaling or exceeding the amount
un deposit at the end of each business day. The pledged securities must be in the name of the governmental entily and held by the
catity or its agent. Since the district complies with this law. it has no custodial credit risk for deposits.

Foreign Crrrency Risk The District limits the risk that changes in exchange rates will adversely affect the fair value of an
investment or a deposit by not investing in foreign currency invesiments.

As of September 30. 2025, the following are the District's cash and cash equivalents with respective matueitics and credit rating:

Maturity in Maturity in
L.ess than Maturity in Over 10 Credit
Type of Deposit Fair Value Percent vear 1-10 Years Years Raling
Cash, Monzy Markels and
FDIC Insured Accounts 3 1.633.997 00% % 1,633.997 - - NIA
Total Cash and Cash Equivalents § 1,633,997 160%  § 1,633,997 - -
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Northeast Texas Municipal Water Districl
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At Seprember 30. 2025 and 2024

As of September 30, 2024, the following are the District's cash and cash equivalents with respective maturities and
credit rating:

Maturity in Maturity i
L.ess than | Maturity in Over 10 Credit
Type of Deposit . Fair Valug  Percent year 1-10 Years Years Rating
Cash, Money Markets and
FDIC Insured Accounts T 835,950 100% $ 835950 - - fA
Total Cash and Cash Equivalents £ 835950 100% $ 835,550 - -

In addition, the following is disclosed regarding coverage of combined balances at September 30, 2023:

a. Depository: First National Bank of Hughes Springs

b. The market value of securities pledged at September 30, 2025 was $ 1,550,909

¢. The bank balance of cash, savings, and time deposit accounts amounted to $1.401.846 ar September
30, 2025.

d. Total amount of FDIC coverage at September 30. 2025 was $250,000.

Investments

District Policies and Legal and Contractual Provisions Governing [nvestments

Compliance with the Public Funds Investment Act
The Texas Public Funds Investment Act of 1995 (Chapter 2256) contains specific provisions in the areas of

investment praclices, management reports, and establishment of appropriate policies. Among other things, it requires
a governmental entity to adopt, implement, and publicize an invesiment policy. That policy must address the following
areas: {1) safety of principal and liquidity, (2} portfolio diversification, {3} allowab le investments, {4) acceptable risk
levels, (5) expected rates of return, (6) maximum allowable stated maturity of portfolio investments, (7} maximum
average dollar-weighted maturity allowed based on the stated maturity date for the portfelio, {8) investment staff
quality and capabilities, (9) and bid sulicitation preferences for certificates of deposit.

Statutes authorize the entity to invest in (1} obligations of the U S. Treasury, certain ULS. agencies, and the State of
Texas and its agencies; (2) guaranteed ot secured certificates of deposit issued by state and national banks domiciled
in Texas; (3) obligations of states, agencies, counties. cities and other political subdivisions of any state having been
rated as to investment quality not less than an "A". (4) No lvad money market funds with a weighted average maiurity
of 90 days or less; (5) fully collateralized repurchase agreements; (6) commercial paper having a stated maturity of
270 days or less from the date of issuance and is not rated less than A-1 or P-1 by two nationally recognized credit
rating agencies OR one nationaily recognized credit ageney and is fully secured by an irrevocable letter of credit; {7)
public fiinds invesiment pools; and (8) guaranteed investment contracts for bond proceeds investment only, with a
defined termination date and secured by U.S. Government direct ur agency obligations approved by the Texas public
Funds Investment Act in an amount equal to the bond proceeds. The Act also requires the entity 1o have independent
auditors perform test procedurcs related to investment practices as provided by the Act. NORTHEAST TEXAS
MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT is in substantial compliance with the requirements of the Act and with local

policies.
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Northeast Texas Municipal Water District
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At Scptember 30, 2025 and 2024

Additional policies and contractual provisions governing investments for NORTHEAST TEXAS MUNICIPAL
WATER DISTRICT are specified below:

Credit Risk To limit the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its obligations the
District limits investments in corporate bonds, mutual bond funds to the top ratings issued by nationally recognized
statistical rating organizations (NRSRQs). As of September 30, 2023, the district’s investments in commercial paper
were rated, AAATSI+ and AAAm by Standard & Poor's.

Custodial Credit Risk for fnvestments  To limil the risk that, in the evenl of the failure of the counterparty to a
transaction, a government will not be able to recover the value ol investment or collateral securities that are in
possession of an outside party the District requires counterparties to register the securities in the name of the district
and hand them over to the District or its designated agent. This includes securities in securities lending transactions.
All of the securities are in the District's name and held by the District or its agent.

Concentration of Credit Risk To limit the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of a government's investment in a
single issuer, the District limits investments 1o’ less than 5% of its total investments. The District further limits
investments in a single issucr when they would cause investment risks to be significantly greater in the business-type
activities, individual major funds, aggregate non-major funds. Usually this limitation is 20%.

Interest Rate Risk To limit the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of investments,
the District requires all of the investment portfolio to have maturities of less than one year.

Foreign Currency Risk for investments The District limits the risk that changes in exchange rates will adverscly affect
the fair value of an investunent by not allowing foreign investments.

The District categorizes its fair value measurements with the fair value hierarchy established by generally accepted
accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to measure the fair value of the asset. Level
| inpuis are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets; Level 2 inputs are significant other observable inputs;
Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable inputs. Investments that are measured at fair value using the net assei
value per share {or ils equivalent) as a practical expedient are not classified in the fair value hierarchy below. In
instances where inputs used to measure fair value fall into different levels in the above fair value hierarchy, fair value
measurements in their entirety arc categorized based on the {owest level input that is significant to the valuation. The
District's assessment of the significance of particular inputs to these fair value measurements requires judgment and
considers factors specific to each asset or liahitity.

in this discussion and in the tabie below, investments are defined according to GASB 72 as a security or other asset
that (a) a government holds primarily for the purpose of income or profit and (b} has a present service capacity
based solely on its ability to generate cash or to be sold 10 generate cash. Anasset initially reported as a capital asset
and later held for sale would not subsequently be reclassified as an investment.
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Northeast Fexas Municipal Water District
NOTES TO THIE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AL September 380, 2023 and 2024

AS o September 30. 2023, Northeast Texas Municipal Water District had the follny ing insestments:

Amortized
Inyv estment Type o Cost

Investmert Pools

lLagic [nvestment Pool $2.785.1 58
TexSTAR Investment Pool $193.67%
Lone Star Investmert Pool $1.963.504
Total [nvestment Pools $4.949.341
Total [nvestments $4.949.3 -1

As ol September 30. 2024, Northeast Texas Muniuipal Waier District had the tollowing invesiments:

Amortized

Investment Type ) Cost
Investment Pools

Logic Investment Pool $1.402.786

TexSTAR Invesiment Pooi 3300273

lLone Star Investment Pooi $1.879.29¢%

Total Investment Pools 53,582,357

Total fnvestmenls 83582 357

I'he Advisory Board of cach pool is composed of participants and other knowledgeable individuals representing public
schools, public junior colleges. cities. counties. and other local governments. The purpose of the Advisory Board is o
guther and exchange information from participants and nonparticipants relating fo the operation of the investment pucls.
The investment pools employ an independent third-party bank to perform custody and valuation services. Investment
advisory services are provided for each investment pool and cach are audited

NORTHEAST TEXAS MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT has no investments measured ar the Net Asset Value
{NAV) per Share.

1%
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Northeast Texas Municipal Water District
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At Scptember 30, 2025 and 2024

B. DISAGGREGATION OF RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES

Receivables at September 30, 2023 and 2024 were as foltows:

2025 2024
Water Sales Grants Other Total Water Sales Grants Other Total
Major Proprietary Funds;
Primary Water District 246,449 271,309 - 273,758 336,446 27,028 - 414,074
Regional Water Supply 364,436 - - 364,436 227,582 - - 227,582
Lake O the Pines Southside 163,340 - - 163,540 143,030 - - 143,030
774,425 27,309 - 801,734 757.058 27,628 - 784,686
Payables at September 30, 2023, were as Tollows:
Accrued
Accounts Accrued Accrued Sludge
Pavable Benefits [nterest Disposal Total
Major Proprietary Funds:
Primary Water District 60,9514 2,038 - - 62,989
Regional Water Supply 5,773 1,824 6,791 26,300 42,888
Lake O the Pines Southside 145,907 - - 145,907
212,631 3.862 6,791 26,500 251,784
Payables at September 30, 2024, were as follows:
Accrued
Accounls Accrued Accrued Sludge
Payable Benefits Interest Disposal Total
Major Preprictary Funds:
Primary Water District 54,451 2,807 - - 57,258
Regional Water Supply 4,413 3,717 7,516 26,500 42,146
Lake (¥ the Pines Southside 144,307 - 1,387 - 145,694
203,171 6,524 3.903 26,500 243,098

C. INTERFUND BALANCES /TRANSFERS

Interfund balances between the major proprietary fuads total $498,631 between the Regional Water Supply System and the Lake
' the Pines Southside funds at September 30, 2025 and 2024.

[nterfund transfers between the three major proprietary funds tor the year netted as follows:

Transfers from Primary Water District to: 2025 204
Regional Water Supply System 818,091 818,091
Lake O' the Pines Southside 527,790 527,790

1,345 881 1,345,881

Transfers from Regional Water Supply System to: 2025 2024

Primary Water District 172,129 172,129
172,129 172,129

These are transfers for operations and debt service and will not be repaid.
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Northeast Texas Municipal Water District
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At September 30, 2025 and 2024

D. CAPITAL ASSETS

The District’s capital asset activity for the year ended September 30, 2025, was as follows:

Balance Balance
1:/1/2024 Additions Deletions 9/3042025
Non-depreciable assets:
Land and right-of-way 1,462 481 - - 1,462,481
Water rights 1.752.565 - - 1,752,565
Construction in progress - - - -
3,215,046 - - 3,215,046
Depreciable assets:
Water treatment plants 27,712,725 442,157 - 28,154,882
Water lines and intake structures 25,401,138 93,777 - 25.496915°
Pump station 869,559 57,620 - 927,179
Buildings 749,195 - 8,225 - 757,420
Furniture, tools and equipment 1,811,854 63,966 - 1,875.820
Autos, trucks and tractors 300,493 110,880 - 411,373
Clean sivers project 84,025 - - 84,025
Corp of Engineers 387.6017 - - 387,617
57,316,606 778,625 - 58,093,231
Tulal capital assets 60,531,652 778,625 - 61,310,277
Less accumulated depreciation for:
Water treatment plants (13.793.915) (761.030) - {14,554 945)
Water lines and intake structures {7.692.390) {288.030) - (7.980,421)
Pump station {650,957) (17.391) - {668.348)
Buildings (542,546) {30421 - (572,967)
Furniture, tools and equipment {1,322,553%) {87.889) - {1,410.444)
Autos, trucks and tractors (288,312) {26,332) - {314,634)
Clean rivers project {84.025) - - {84.023)
Corp of Engineers (108,527) {7.752) - {116,279)
Total accumutated deprectation {24 483.22%8) {1,218.843) - (25,702,073)
Net Capital Assets 36.048.424 {440,220) - 35,608,204

Depreciation expense for the year ended September 30, 2025 was $1,218,843.
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Northeast Texas Muunicipal Water District
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Al September 30, 2025 and 2024

D, CAPITAL ASSETS {Continued)

The Districl's capital asset activity for the year ended Seplember 30, 2024, was as follows:

Balance Balance
10172024 Additions Deletions 9/30/2023
MNon-depreciable assets:
Land and right-of-way 1.462.481 - - 1.462 481
Water rights 1,752,565 - - 1.752.565
Construclion in propress - - - -
3,215,046 - - 3,215.040
Depreciable assets:
Waler treatment plants 27.320.745 391,980 - 27.712.725
Water lings and iniake structures 25,018,000 383,138 - 25.401,138
Pumnp station 869.559 - - B69.559
Buildings 696.838 52,357 - 749195
Furniture, tools and equipment 1,377,118 234,736 - 1,811,854
Autos, trucks and tractors 287,002 13,431 - 360,493
Clean rivers project 84,025 - - 84.025
Corp of Engineers 387,617 - - 387.617
56,240,964 1.075,642 - 57,316,606
Total capital assets 39,456,010 1,075,642 - 60,531,652
Less accumulated depreciation for:
Water tremiment planls (13,133,439 {660,4564) . {13,793.9t5)
Water lines and intake structures (7.326.631} (363,760) - {7.692,391}
Pump station (R33.560) {17.39H - (6350,937)
Buildings (5313,057) (29,489) - (342.53406)
Furniture, tools and equipment {1,229.877) (92.678) - {1.322,555)
Aultos, trucks and tractors (281,835 (6.477) - {288.312}
Clean rivers project (84.025) - - (84.025}
Corp of Engineers {100,775} (7.752) - {108,527}
Total accumulated depreciation (23,303.225) (1,180.003) - 124,483,228}
Net Capital Assels 36,152,785 (104.361) - 36.048.424

Nepreciation expense for the vear ended September 30. 2024 was $1.180.003.
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Northeast Texas Municipal Water District
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At September 30, 2025 and 2024

E. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS

Plan Deseription
The District provides retirement, disability, and death benefits for all of its full-time employees through a nontraditional defined

benefit plan in the state-wide Texas County and District Retirement System (TCDRS). The Board of Trustees of TCDRS is
responsible for the administration of the state-wide agent multiple-ernployer pubiic employee retirement system consisting of over
600 nontraditional defined benefit pension plans. TCDRS in the aggregate issues a comprehensive annual financial report (CAFR)
on a calendar year basis. The CAFR is available upon written request from the Board of Trustees at P.O. Box 2034, Austin, Texas

78768-2034.

The plan provisions are adopted by the poverning body of the District, within the options availabic in the Texas stale statutes
govemning TCDRS (TCDRS Act}. Members can retire at ages 60 and above with 10or more years of service or with 30 years of
service regardless of age or when the sum of their age and years of service equals 80 or more. A member is vested after 10 years
of service but must leave his accumuiated contributions in the plan to receive any employer-financed benefit. [f a member
wilhdraws his personal contributions in a flump-sum, he is not entitled to any amounis contributed by the employer.

All eligible empioyees of the District are required to participate in the TCDRS.

Bengfits Provided
TCDRS provides retirement, disability and death benefits. Benefit provisions are adopted by the governing body of the District,

within the options available in the state statutes governing TCDRS.

Benefit amounts are determined by the sum of the employee's contributions to the plan, with interest, and employer-financed
monetary eredits. The level of these monetary credits is adopied by the governing body of the employer within actuarial constrainls
tmposed by the TCNRS Act so that the resulting benefits can be expected to be adequatety financed by the employer’s commitment
to contribute. At retirement, death, or disability, the benefit is calcuiated as if the sumof the employee's accumulated contributions
and the employer-financed monetary credits Lo a monthly annuity using annuity purchase rates prescribed by the TCDRS Act.

Employess covered by benefit terms.

At December 3t, 2023 and 2024 valuation and measurentent date, the following employees were covered by the benefit

terms:
2023 2024
Inastive emplovees or heneficiaries currently receiving benefits 12 127
Inactive complayees entitied to but not yer receiving bengfits 7 &
Active employees 15 15
34 33

Contributions

The employer has elected the annually determined coniribution rate (Variable-Rate) plan provisions of the TCDRS Act. The ptan
is funded by monthly contributions from both employee members and the employer based on the covered payrell of employee
members. Under the TCDRS Act, the contribution rate of the emplayer is actuarially determined annually.

Employees for the District were required to contribute 7% of their annnal gross earnings during the fiscal year. The contribution
rates for the District were 9.1% and 9. 1% in calendar years 2023 and 2024, respectively. The District’s contributions to TCDRS
for the year ended September 30, 2024 and 2025, were $110,080, and $113,966 and were equal (o the required contributions. The
District contributed an additional $0 and $0 respectively for these years.

Net Pension Liability
The District's Net Pension Liability (NPL ) was measured as of December 31, 2623 and 2024, and the Total Pension Liabtlity {TPL}Y

used to calculate the Net Pension Liability was determined by an actuarial valuation s of that datc.

Actuarial assumptions:
The Total Pension Liability in the December 31, 202] and 2624 actuarial valuations were determined using the following

actuarial assumptions:

[nflation 2.50% per year

Overall payroll growth 4. 7% for 2023 and 4.7% for 2024
Investment Rate of Retum 7.5% for 2023 and 7.5% for 2024

Demoegraphic and ecconomic assumptions are used to estimate employer liabilities and lo determine the amount of funding required
from ¢cmployer contributions as opposed 1o investment earnings. These assumptions refiect a long-term perspective of 30 years or
more. Examples of key sconomic assumptions include long-term investment return, long-term inflation and anpual payroli
increasc.
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Northeast Texas Municipal Water District
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT'S
At September 30, 2025 and 2024

E. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (continued)

Demographic assumptions are the acluary’s best ¢stimate of what will happen to TCDRS members and retirees. Examples of
demographic assumptions are employment termination rates, retirement rates and retirce mortality rates. A complete listing of all
actuarial assumptions can be found in the annual sysiem-wide valuation report.

The long-term expecied rate of return on pension plan investments is 7.60%. The pension plan's policy in regard to the allocation
of invested assets is established and may be amended by the TCDRS Board of Trustees. Plan assets are managed on a total return
basis with an cmphasis on both capital appreciation as wel! as the production of income, in order ta satisfy the short-term and long-

term funding needs of TCDRS.

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined wsing a building-block method in which best
estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected retuens, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are
developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting
the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation perceatage and by adding expected inflation. The target
allocation and best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class are summarized in the following table:

Geometric

Target Real Rate of
Asset Class Allocation Reum
US Equity 11.5% 535%
Imemational Equity 10.0% 4.75%
Srrategic Credit 9.0% 3.70%
Direet Lending 16.0% 6.85%

Various 22.5% 1 .06 B)%
Hedge Funds 6.0% 3.60%
8.15%

Private Equity
Total

25.0%

100.0%

Discount Rate
The discourit rate used to measure the Total Pension Liability was 7.6%. The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount

rate assumed that employee and employer contributions will be made at the rates specified in statute. Based on that assumption,
the pension plan's Fiduciary Net Position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current
active and inactive employees. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pensior plan investments was applied Lo all
periods of projected benefit payments to determine the Totai Pension Liability.

Changes in the Net Pension Liability/{ Asset)
Increase (decrease)

Plan Fiduciary

Total Pension Net Pension

Liability Net Position Liability/( Asset)
(2) (b) a) - (b)
Baiance at December 31, 2023 3 4323740 § 4853358 3 {534,588)
Changes for the year:
Service cost 140,600 - 140,600
interest 328,978 - 328,978
Effect of economic/demographic gains/losses 43,354 - 43,354
Effect of plan changes . - -
Changes of assumptions . - -
Contributions - employer - 106,507 (106,507)
Conlributions - ¢mployee - 81,929 {81,929)
Net investment income - 493,360 {493.360)
Benefit payments, inciuding refund of contributions (276,500) {276.500) -
Administrative expense - {2.862) 2.862
Other changes - (3.408) 3,408
MNet changes $ 236432 § 399026 % {162,594)
Balance at December 31, 2024 3 4,560,202 $ 5257384 3 {697,182)
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Northeast Texas Municipal Water District
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMEN1
At Sepiember 30, 2025 and 2024

E. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (continued)

‘5

Increase (decreasel

Total Pension  Plan Fiduciary Net Pension
Ljability Net Position Liability/{ Asset)
@ (b} (2)-(b)
Balance at December 31, 2022 $ 4,223.646 % 447,858 5 {248,212}
Changes for the year:

Service cost 153,789 - 153,789
[merest 322,150 - 322,130
Effect of economic/demographic gains/losses {93,387 - (93,387
Effect of plan changes - -
Changes of assumptions - . -
Contributions - employer - 104,059 (104,059}
Contributions - employce - 80,046 {80,046)
Net investment income - 490,48% {490,48%)
Benefit payments, including refund of contributions (282,428) (282,428) -
Administrative expense - (2,537 2,537
Other changes L - 3129 3,12%
Net changes 3 100,124 $ 386500 § {286,376)
Balance at December 31, 2023 $ 4323770 % 4858358 % (534,588)

Sensitivity of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate

The following presents the net pension liability of the District, calculated using the discount rate of 7.6% and 7.6%, as well as what
the District’s net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is I-percentage-point lower {6.6% and

6.6%) ar 1-percentage-point higher (8.6% and 8.6%) than the current rate for 2023 and

1% Decreass in

2024 respectively:

1% [ncrease in

Discount Rate Discount Rate
7.6% R.0%

Measurement Discount Rate
Daic 6.6%
12/31/2023 District's net pension liability/{ Asset) b {71,597}

1% Decrease in
Measurement Discount Rate
Date 6.6%

$ (534588 5 (939.051)

1% [nerzase in
Discount Rate Discount Rate
7.6% 8.6%

12/31/2024 District’s net pension liabilityf{ Asset) $ {205,045

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position

$ (697,182)  § (1,127,099}

Detailed information about the pension plan’s Fiduciary Net Position is available in aseparately-issued TCDRS financial report.

That report may be obtained on the Internet at www.tedrs.com,

Pension Expense and Deferred Qutflows of Resources and Deferred [n flows of Resources Related to Pensions

For the year ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, the District recognized pension expense of $110,880 and S113.,966.

Al September 30, 2024 and 2023, the District reported deferred outflows of resourcesand defered inflows of resources related to

pensions from the following sources:

2004 2025

Deterred Deferred Deferred Deferred

Quttlows Inflows Outflows Inflows
of Resources of Resources of Respurces of Resources
Differences between expected and actual economic experience 30369 B1.494 4G 868 59.424
Changed is actuarial assumplions 64.228 1534 32.115 1,266
Difference between projected and actual investment eamings 21,633 - . 50.784
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date T 84072 - 90,836 -
Total 200,302 84,028 172.839 111,474
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Northeast Texas Municipal Water Distric
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

At September 30, 2025 and 2024

£ DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (continued)

Amounts reporied as deferred outflows and inflows of resources related 1o pensions. excluding contributions made subseyuent 1o

the measurement date. will be recognized in pension expense as follows:
Year ended September 30

F. LONG-TERM DEBT

2026
2027
2028
2329
2030

Thereafter

{7.761)
61,568
{66,440}
{16.858)

The District’s long-term debt activity for the year ended September 30. 2025, was as follows:

Water System Revenue Bonds
Series 2008
Series 2013 {refunding)

Contract Revenue Bonds:
Accreted |nterest
Senes 200 1 {refunding )
Series 2017 (refmding)
tInamortized difference on refunding

The District’s long-term debt activity for the year ended September 30, 2024, was as follows!

Water System Revenue Bonds
Series 2008
Series 2013 (refunding)

Contract Revenue Bonds:
Accreted Interest
Serigs 2013 {refunding)
Series 2017 (refunding}
Lnamortized difterence on refunding

Balance Baiance
at Retired! al Current
107172024 Issued Refunded 93072025 Portion
1.550,000 (153,000 1,395,000 155000
1,550,000 (155.000) 1.395.000 155 000
1.799.572 132,34 1931.876 -
725.000 {723,000 - -
12.668.892 (637,433 12,011,847 1.326.343
(346,123) 173,064 (173,061) -
14,847,339 (1,076.677) 13,770.662 1,326,343
16.397.339 {1,231.677} 15,165 662 L481.345
Balance Balance
at Retired/ at Current
10/1/2023 Issued Refunded 973072024 Postion
1,550,000 B 1,350,000 135.000
1,020,000 {1.020.000 - -
2,570,000 { £.020,000) 1550000 133,000
1,567.323 232.249 17909372 -
1,660,000 1935000 725,000 725,000
12.859.431 190,339 12668852 657,045
(319.189) 173,064 {346,125} -
15,367,563 {720.220) 14847339 ) 382,043
18.137,565 (1.740.226) 16,397,319 1,537,045
26
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Northeast Texas Municipal Water Distvict
NOTES TQ THE TTINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At Septerber 30, 2025 and 2024

F. LONG-TERM DEBT continwed

Water System Revenue Bonds, Series 2008, dated November |2. 2008, in the aggregate principal amourt of $1.530.000; interest
payable semi-annually al coupon rates ranging from 3.5% to 5.83%: principal payable anmually from Seplember 1. 2025 through
September 1, 2034 secured by a pledge of revenues. The bead proceeds were used te fund improvements o the District’s Tanner

waler treatment plant.

Contract Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2013. dated June 25, 2013. in the aggregaie prictcipal amount ot $19.873.000. inierest
payable semi-annually at a rate of 2.23%, principal payable annually through September 1, 2025; secured by a pledge of revenucs.
The bond proceeds were used to advance refund the Contract Revenue Boncs. Series 2003. The refunding was undertaken to
reduce the total debt service payments over the next |3 years by approximately $1.21 million and 1o obtain an economic gain
(difference between the present value of the debt service payments of the refunded and refunding bonds) of approximately 5897
thousand. These were paid off in the current year.

Contract Revenue Refunding Bonds, Serites 2017, dated April 15. 2017, in the aggregate principal amouant ol $13.989.850,
interest payable semi-annually at a rate of 2.00%-4.00%, principal payable annually through September 1, 2041 secured by a
pledge of revenues. The bond proceeds were used o advance refund the Contract Revenue Bonds. Series 2009, The refunding
was undertaken to reduce the total debl service payments over the next 23 years by approximalely $2.9 million and to obtain an
economic gain (difference between the present value of the debt service payments of the refunded and refunding bonds) of
approximately $4.6 million. The principal balance of the refunded debt is $3.404.777 at September 30. 2025.

Certain bond agreements require the District to maintain reserve funds in an amount equal 10 the average aniual principal and
interest requirements of the oulstanding bonds. As of September 30. 2025, reserve funds restricted for debt scrvice wtaled
$2.079,754 which exceeded the coverage required.

The scheduled Maturities of bonds pavable as of September 30, 2023, are as toliows’

Years Ending
930 Principai Interest Total
2026 1481343 468,308 [.949 833
2027 1.476.245 464,605 1,940 850
2028 1 466.660 464,410 £.930.770
2029 1435873 410,367 t 926340
2030 438582 471,933 1910517
2031-2035 4070661 2428774 6495433
2036-2048 t.798.903 1.816.097 4,615,001
2041-2045 21BA47R 152 650.000
Total 13.406.847 8.016, 118 21422963
Unamorized difference on refunding (s -
Accreted Interest | 831,876

T 15.163.660
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Northeast Texas Municipal Water District
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At September 30, 2025 and 2024

G. RISK MANAGEMENT

The District is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to and destruction of assets; crrors and omissions;
injuries to employees; employee health benefits; and other claims of various natures. The District purchases commercial insurance

io indemnify it in the event of foss.

H. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The District has no significant commitments or contingencies at September 30, 2025.
l. LITIGATION

As of September 30, 2025, the District was not involved in any significant litigation.
J. RESERVED/RESTRICTED NET POSITION

Reservations or restrictions of fund equity reflect amounts legally set aside for specifisd purposcs. The purpose of each is indicated
by the account title on the face of the statement of net assets.

K. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Administration has evaluated subsequent events through December 17, 2025, the financial staterment issuance date.

28

99



REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

100



Tots} pensice lishiliry

Senvice Cosl
Uteres: fon e Tokak Percsion Lizhilty{
Fifect of counomicdlkrmographe: pinslosses
Changes of benelit tams
LitTerence betwicen expected and acnaah expericnos
Changes of asaumptoms
Benefi payments ichuding refunds of emplovee Sontnbiutions
Netchange i ol posion bty
Toa pension lihility - beginning
Toval pession liahlty - ending

Plan fduriary et posilion

Contribubons - erigloser
Comnbuions - cxmgovee
el invcsImEnt iobme
Benetin payments.inclucfing vefunds of cmpdoyee <ontrbadians
Admimistave expense
Other
et change n plan Bvciary net pos:tion
Plan fiduciary me1 posini: - deginming
Plon fiduciany st pasition - 2nding

Sl pemsion lizbilinyTasse}

Plan ficksciay nei position 454 perveatage of the otal pession Rabiliy

Coverrd-cmplaree pavrod

et pension Rabsliy a5 percentage of cavered mplasee parel

NOTES:
Changes of benefit terms

Northeast Texas Municipal Water District
SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN NET PENSION LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS
Measurcment Date At Decernber 31
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There were no significant changes of benefit terms that affected measurement of the total pension liability during the

measurcment period.

(Changes of assumptions

There were ne significant changes of assumptions or other inputs that affected measurernen: of the tota! pension liability

during the measurement period.
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Northeast Texas Municipal Water District
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES AND EXPENSES-
BUDGET AND ACTUAL
for the year ended September 30, 2025

Variance
Favorablc
Budget Actual {Unfavorahle)
OPERATING REVENUES
Raw water sales 3,184,449 3,098,390 (85,559
Treated waler sales 4653188 4,987,769 334,581
State granis 100,00 147,052 47,052
Other grants - 3,572 3572
Total operating revenues 7.937.637 £.237,283 290 646
DPERATING EXPENSES
Personnel 1,821,090 1,616,313 204,777
Supplies 595.027 583,708 11,319
Maintenance 706,241 469,630 236,611
Contractual services and other 1,384,340 61,833 422 507
State grant programs 100,000 127,210 {22,210)
Other grant programs - - -
Total operating expenses 4 606,698 3,758,694 848,004
Excess {deficiency) of revenues over expendilures 3,330.93% 4,478,589 1,147,650
NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSLES)
[nvestment inceme, net 150,000 221,182 77,382
Interest expense and debt [ees {432,646) (735.899) {303,253
Other 108,022 258,511 150,489
Total non-operating revenues {Expenses) {174,624) {250,006) {75,382)
NET INCOME BEFORE NON-BUDGETED EXPENSES 3,156,315 4,228 583 1,072,268
NON-BUDGETED EXPENSES
Depreciation 1,218,845
NET INCOMFEALOSS) 3,009,738

e
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Northeast Texas Municipal Water District
INDEX OF SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDLULES
REQUIRED BY TIIE TEXAS COMMISSION ON ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY
for the year ended September 30. 2025

(Check those schedules included and provide a brief explanation below the schedule title for any schedule omissions)
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* The Northeast T'exas Municipal Water District provides only wholesale water services and therefore is not required to provide

Nates required by the Water District Accounting Manual

{Inchuded in the notes (o the financial statements)
Services and rates
Schedule of operating expenditures

Schedule of temparary investments
{Included in the notes to the financial statements)

Analysis of taxes levied and receivable

Analysis of changes in general fixed ussets
{Included in the notes w the financial statements)

General long-term debl service requirements by years
Analvsis of changes in general Tong-term debt
Comparative schedule of revenues and expenditures
Insurance coverage

Board members. key personnel, and consultants

this supplemental information.

N/A — Not applicable

Page Number

14-28

34

16-19

18
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Northeast Texas Municipal Water District
{E} SCHEDULE OF SERVICES AND RATES
For the year ended September 30, 2023

1. Services provided by the District:

D Retail water Wholesale water |:] Drainage
l:l Retail wastewater [j Wholesale wastewaler ‘j [rrigation
D Parks/recreation D Fire protection I:' Security
I:] Solid waste/garbage D Fiood control D Roads
E] Participates in joint venture, regional system and/or wastewatar service (other than emergency interconnect)
[[] Other(specify)
2. Retail rates based on 5/8" meter: I:l Retail rates not applicable

Most prevalent type of meter (if not a 5/8"): —_—

Flat Rate per 1000
Minimum Minimum Rate Gallons Over
Charge Lisage YN Minimum Usage [.evels
WATER: — 3 o o . S 1a
WASTEWATER: _ o b - . to _
SURCHARGE: A 5 — L 5 . _to
District employs winter averaging for wastewater usage” yes I:I ne [j
Total water and wastewater charges per 10, 000 gallons usage (including surcharges). § .
3 Retail Service Providers: Number of retail waler and/or wastewater* connections within the District as of the fiscal year end.
Provide actual numbers and single family equivalents (ESFC) as noted:
Inactive
N/A Active Active Connections
Connections ESEL {ESFC)**
Single Family
Multi-Family
Commerciat

Other-recreational centers. government & VFD

TOTAL

4, Total Water Consumption (in Thousands) During the Fiscal Year:

Gallons pumped into system: 1,228,295
Callons billed to customers: 1,136,522

* Number of conneclions relates to water service, if provided. Otherwise, the number of wastewater connections should be provided.

** ~[nactive” means that water and wastewater connections were made, but service is not being provided.

32
105



s Standby Fees: Does the District assess standby fees? Yes No | X

For the most recent full fiscal vear, FYE

Deixt Service: Total levy s
Total collected $ I
Percentage collected

Operation & Maintenance:  Total levy 5 . _
Total collected $ .
Percentage collected

Have standby fees been levied in accordance with Water Code Section 49,231
thereby constituting 2 tien on property. Yes I:l No |:|

6. Anticipated sources of funds to be used for debt service payments in the District's following fiscal year:

. Debt Service Tax Receipts s
. Surplus Constructton Funds

. Water andfor Wastewater Ravenue

. Standby Fees

. Debl Service Fund Balance to be Used

. Imerest Revenues

. Other (Describe)

= 9 o o0 oo

*TOTAL ANTICIPATED FUNSD TO BE USED $ -

7. Location of District:

County({ies) in which District is located. Cass, Morris, Marioa, Upshur, Camp

1s the District located entirely within one county? Yes |:| No
Is the District within a City? Not at al Partly |:| Entirely |:|

City(ies) in which District is located. Avinger, Daingerficld, Hughes Springs, Jefferson, Lone Star, Ore City, Pittsburg
Is the District located within a city's extra territorial jurisdiction (ETH? Not at all | X | Partly | _] Entirely |::l

ET?s in which District is located.

Is the general membership of the Board apointed by an office outside the District? Yes |:] No

H Yes. by whom?
£ This total should equal the District’s total annual debt service for the [scal year following the fiseal vear reported or in ihe audited
financial statemenls.
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Northeast Texas Municipal Water District
{F) SCHEDULE OF QPERATING EXPENDITURES
For the year ended September 38, 2025

Current:
Personnel {including benefits}

Professional Fees:
Auditing
Legal
Engineering
Financial advisor
Other professional fees

Purchased services for resale:
Bulk water and sewer service purchases
Tap connection expenses
Contracted services:
Bookkeeping
General manager
Appraisal districl

Tax collector
Other contracted services

Utilities

Repairs and maintenance

Administrative expenses.
Directors' fees
Office supplies
Insurance

Other administrative expenses

Capital outlay:
Acquisition of fixed assets

Chemicals

Transfers

Special projects - State grani programs
Special projects - Other grant programs
Solid waste disposal

Other expenditures

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENDITURES

Number of persons employed by the District:
{Does not include independent contractors or consultants)

34

1,616.313

36,350
178,864
13,014

254,255
469,629
15,800
14,505
57331
29,178
778,625

402,168

127,210

500,077
4,537,319

14 full-time
| part-time
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Water System Revenue Refunding Bonds

{N LONG-TERM DEBT SERVICE REQUIREMENTES — BY YEAR
As ol September 30, 2025

Northeast Texas Municipal Water District

Water System Revenue Bonds

FYE Series 2013 Series 2008
5730 Principal Interest - Total Principal Interest Taotal
2026 - 155.000 79,503 234,003
2027 - 155.000 71,300 226,300
2028 - 155.000 62,620 217,620
2029 - 155,000 53,940 208,940
2030 - 155,000 43,103 200,105
2031 - 155.000 36,192 191,192
2032 - 155.000 27,203 182,203
2033 - 153,000 18,135 173,135
2034 . 155.000 9,067 164,067
2035 . - - .
2036 .
2037 - . - .
2038 - . . .
2039 . ; - -
2040 - ; - ;
2041 - . - ;
2042 - . - ;
2043 - - . ;
2044 . - - ;
2045 - ; - .
2046 . - - .
- 1,385,000 433,463 1,798,465
35
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Northeast Texas Municipal Water District

{J) LONG-TERM DERT SERVICE REQUIREMENTES —BY YEAR

Contract Revenue Refunding Bonds

As of September 30, 2025

FYE Series 2017 TOTAL
9/30 Principal [nterest Total Principal Inferest Totat
2026 1,326,345 388,005 1.714,930 1,481,345 468,508 1,949,853
2027 1,321,245 393,305 1,714,550 1,476,245 464 603 1,640,830
2028 1,301,660 401,490 1,713,150 1,466,660 464,110 1,930,770
2029 1,300,973 416,627 1,717,600 1,455,973 470,567 1,926,540
2030 1,283,582 426,830 1,710,412 1,438,582 471,935 1,910,517
2031 1,278,106 438,582 1,716,688 1,433,106 474,774 1,907,880
2032 850,009 447,141 1,207,150 1,005,009 474,344 1,479,353
2033 464,100 460,900 925,000 619,100 479,035 1,098,135
2034 440,355 484,645 025,000 503,355 463,712 089,067
2035 418,001 506,909 925,000 418,091 506,909 925,000
2036 395,168 524,832 920,000 395.168 524,832 920,000
2037 375986 544,014 920,000 375,986 344,014 920,000
2038 159,464 565,536 925,000 359 464 565,536 925,000
2038 342352 582,648 925,000 342,352 582,648 925,000
20440 325933 500,067 925,000 325933 569,067 925,000
204) 218,478 431,522 650,000 218478 431,522 650,000
2042 - - - - -
2043 - - - - - -
2044 - - - - -
2045 - - - - -
12.01i,847 7,612,653 19,624,500 13,406,847 8,016,118 21.422.965

i6
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Interest rite

Dales imerest pavable

Maturity dales

Bonds autstanding at
beginning ol current year

Ronds sold dunng the
current year

Inierest accretion
Retirements: principal
Retunding amertization

Bunds ouislanding at
2nd ot current year

Retirement: interest

Bond Authority:
Amoun athonzed
Amount issued

Remaiming 10 be issued

Nartheast Yexas Mupicipal Water District

(K) ANALYSIS OF CHANGES [N LONG-TERM DEBT

tor the vear ended September 30, 20235

Linmiontized
Water System Kevenue Bonds Conract Revenue Bonds Differenccon_ Inierest
Series 2008 Series 203 Seties 2007 Retunding Accretion Total
5.50-3.85% 2 23% 2004 0%
M &9 31& 9N ¥ &% N/A N/A
W3 w 3w O/l T
9134 911725 AL
1,350,000 723,000 [ 2,668,892 {6,125 | 154572 16,397.339
- - 132,304 132,304
1135,000) (7230004 1637.045) - (1.337.045)
- - 173,064 173,064
1.395.000 - L2010 847 (73060 193187 15165662
$8.427 16,312 327.003 - 432 Bt
Refunding
Tax Bonds *  Other Bonds Bonds
N/A 1,330,008 333.9850
- 1,330,000 33319850

* [ncludes all bonds secured with tax revenues. Bonds in this catepory may alse be seeured with other revenues in combination with taxes.

37
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Northeast Texas Municipal Water District
(M) INSURANCE COVERAGE
September 30, 2025

Insurer
Type of Policy
Amount of Corporation Clause:
Type of Coverage Coverage Name Swock/Mutual  Ce-Insurance

Treasurer - Faithful Performance Bond LY 100,060 Western Surety Company Stock No

Notary - Faithful Performance Bond ) 5,000 CNA Surety Stock No

Public Employer - Faithfut Performance Bond b 5,000 CNA Surety Stock No

Commercial Property - Real and Personal Property § 44,819,908 T™L Pool No
Valuable Paper and Records ¥ 50,000
Loss of Revenues, Extra Expenses and Rents ¥ 50,000

Commercial General Liability TML Pool No
Limits of Liability £ 5,000,000
Sudden Events, [nvolving Pollution $ 1,000,000
Annual Aggregate $ 9,000,000

Commercial Auto/Truck T™ML Pool No
Limits of Liahility $ 9,000,000
Medical Payments Limit $ 25,000
Automobiie Physical Damage Per schedule
Lninsured/Underinsured Motorist $  L1000,000

Mobile Equipment ¥ 229.699 T™ML Poal No

Workers Compensation and Employers Liability Statitory L TICA National Insurance Group Stock No

Mirectors and Officers Liability $ 9,000,000 Great American Insurance Stock No

Crime Blanket - Per Occurrence TML Pool No
Public Employee Dishonesty ¥ 500,000
Forgery and Alteration % 25,000
Thefi, Disappearance and Destruction % 10,000
Computer Fraud $ 10,000

38
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND COMPLIANCE SECTION
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Lanny G. Walker, CPA, PFS
Kris Arnold, CPA, PFS
Andrew Arnold. CPA

REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON
COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

Board of Directors
Northeast Texas Municipal Water District
Hughes Springs, Texas

We have audited. in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to
financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of
the business-type activities and each major fund of Northeast Texas Municipal Water District, as of and for the years ended September 30, 2025
and 2024, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise Northeast Texas Municipal Water District, basic financial
statements, and have issued our report thereon dated December 17, 2025.

Report on [nternal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audits of the financial statements, we considered the District's internal control over financial reporting (internal
control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial
statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express
an opinion on the effectiveness of District’s internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or employees, in the normal course
of performing their assigned functions, Lo prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or
2 combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial
statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of
deficiencies. in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough Lo merit attention by those charged with

governance.
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify

all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or, significant deficiencics. Given these limitations, during our audit we did
not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have

not been identified.

Report on Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the District’s financial statements are free from material misstatement, we performed
tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct
and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was
not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance
or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards,

Purpose of this Report

7
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the results of that testing, and not
to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is

not suitable for any other purpose.

Respectfully Submitted,

Arsold, Waller, Arsold ¥ Co., P.C.

Arnold, Walker, Arnold & Co., P.C.

December 17, 2025

915N. Jefferson Ave. * P.O.Box 1217 = Mt. Pleasant, TX 75436
P. 903.572.6606 « F, 903.572.3751 = firm/@awacpa.com

Member: American Institute of Certified Public Accountants + Texas State Society of Certified Public Accountants
39
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Northeast Texas Municipal Water Listrict
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND RESPONSES
FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEFTEMBER 34, 2023 and 2024

Summary of the Auditor's Results:

a
b.

The type of report issued on the financial statements of the Northeast Texas Municipa Water District was an unmadified opinion.

Where applicable, a statement thal control deficiencies in internal control were disclosed by the audit of the financial statements and whether
they were material weaknesses. None

A statement as to whether the audit disclosed any noncompliance which is material to the financial statements of the audites. NONE
Where applicable, a statement that control deficiencies in intemal control over major programs were disclosed by the audit and whether any
such conditions were material woaknesses. NONE

‘Ihe type of report the anditor issued on comptiance for major programs. N/A

A siatement as 1o whether the audit disclosed any audit findings which the auditor is required to report under “Lniform Guidance under
section 200.5t6 Audit Findings paragraph (a)” as required by Title 2 U.S. code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (“Uniform Guidance™). : NONE

An identification of major programs: N/A
The dollar threshold used 1o distinguish between Type A and Type B programs. N/A
A staternent as to whether the auditee qualified as a low-risk auditee. N/A

Findings Relating to the Financial Statements Which Are Required To Be Reported in Accordance with Generally Accepted Governmen!
Auditing Standards.

MNone

H1. Findings and Questioned Costs for ¥ederal Awards Including Audit Findings as Described in Lf Above

N/A
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Northeast Texas Municipal Water Drstrict
SUMMARY SCHEDULE GF PRIGR AUDIT FINDINGS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2025and 2024

PRIOR YEAR'S FINDINGS/ NONCOMPLIANCE

N/A

STATUS OF PRIOR YEAR'S FINDINGS/ NONCOMPLIANCE

N/A

41
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Northeast Texas Municipat Water District
CORRECTIVE ACTION PLAN
FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2025 and 20:24

CORRECTIVE ACTION

NiA

The contact at the District is Osiris Brantley at (903) 639-7338.

42
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MINUTES OF REGULAR MEETING

OF DAINGERFIELD ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION TYPE A & TYPE B
City Hall - 101 Linda Drive - Daingerfield, TX 75638

November 20, 2025

Board Present:

Board members President- Chris Smith and Walter Bass.
Both Keitha Nilsson and Beverly Austin joined meeting by phone
Director Michelle Jones and Administrative Assistant Amanda Sanders

Absent: Marcie McGill, Jason Horn, and Brenda Howard
Others:
1. Meeting Called to Order
Meeting was called to order at 4:40 p.m. by Chris Smith.
2. Public Comments
None.
3. Business
A. Hear, Discuss, and Possibly Act to Approve Minutes for October 16, 2025

Motion made by Keitha Nilsson to approve the minutes as presented. Seconded by Walter
Bass. All voted for. Motion carried.

B. Hear, Discuss and Possibly Act to approve Certified Agenda for October 16,
2025.

Motion made by Keitha Nilsson to approve the certified agenda as presented. Seconded by
Beverly Austin All voted for. Motion carried.

C. Hear, Discuss, and Possibly Act on Loan Conflict- Smith/EDC Loans (Mugshots,
Coffey Street, Postmark)

Chris Smith provided his resignation from the board effective 11/21/2025. Motion made by
Keitha Nilsson to accept resignation. Seconded by Walter Bass. All voted for. Motion caried.

D. Hear, Discuss and possibly act on procedures related to delinquent Economic
Development Corporation Loans.

Discussion only- no action
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5. Monthly Reports

A. Economic Development Financial Reports - Informational only.

B. EDC Director Report - Informational only.

No action taken.

6. Adjournment

Motion made by Walter Bass Seconded hy Beverly Austin, all voted for. Motion carried.

All voted for. Meeting adjourned at 5:06 p.m.
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